University of New England

DUNE: DigitalUNE

All Theses And Dissertations

Theses and Dissertations

8-2019

The Visiting Team: Research On The Engagement Of Urban, **Commuter Student-Athletes**

Corey Christine Berg

Follow this and additional works at: https://dune.une.edu/theses



Part of the Educational Leadership Commons

© 2019 Corey Christine Berg

THE VISITING TEAM:

RESEARCH ON THE ENGAGEMENT OF URBAN, COMMUTER STUDENT-ATHLETES

By

Corey Christine Berg

B.A. University of Virginia 2006 M.S. State University of New York at Cortland 2012

A DISSERTATION

Presented to the Affiliated Faculty of

The College of Graduate and Professional Studies

at the University of New England

In Partial Fulfillment of Requirements

For the Degree of Doctor of Education

Biddeford, Maine

August 2019

Copyright 2019 by Corey Christine Berg

THE VISITING TEAM:

RESEARCH ON THE ENGAGEMENT OF URBAN, COMMUTER STUDENT-ATHLETES

ABSTRACT

The National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA) Division III mantra of "offering participation in a competitive athletic environment that pushes student-athletes to excel on the field and build upon their potential by tackling new challenges across campus" requires administrators to support and promote academic achievement, athletic success, and personal well-being. For Division III student-athletes who are also urban, commuter students, the path to engagement in those areas is not clearly defined. The intent of this two-phase, mixed methods study was to evaluate the priorities of urban, commuting student-athletes at a NCAA Division III institution in New York City.

The following research questions supported the study:

- 1. How do urban commuter student-athletes characterize intercollegiate athletics as part of their campus experience?
- 2. How does personal and career programming offered by the athletic department influence urban commuter student-athlete behavior and choices?

Fifty student-athletes participated in the quantitative portion of the study. An additional eleven student-athletes participated in the survey portion of the study. The REDCap platform was used to gather survey data, which was analyzed for themes on student-athlete engagement at the

iii

institution. Interview data was gathered using the Skype platform and the interview transcripts were coded to determine themes and trends among the student-athletes.

Results from the study indicate that participation in intercollegiate athletics is not the top motivator for urban, commuter student-athletes. Ability to participate in athletics ranks third, behind ability to major in a chosen subject and cost of attendance. Student-athletes did not view athletics programming as a resource that could not be found in other departments on campus. Additional findings suggested that commuter student-athletes respond more strongly when programming is associated with teammates or coaching staff, rather than the athletics department generally. The results of this study recommend that future programming address commuter student-athlete academic challenges, lessen the personal burdens that student-athletes face, and be conducted by a dedicated administrator in a way that respects the unique schedules of the student-athletes.

Keywords: Athletics, Commuter, Engagement, NCAA Division III, and Student-athlete.

University of New England

Doctor of Education Educational Leadership

This dissertation was presented by

Corey Christine Berg

It was presented on May 29, 2019 and approved by:

Michelle Collay, Ph.D. Lead Advisor University of New England

Kim Roberts-Morandi, Ed.D. Secondary Advisor University of New England

Gerard Bryant, Ph.D. Affiliate Committee Member John Jay College of Criminal Justice

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thank you everyone who has helped me on my dissertation journey. To my UNE committee members – Dr. Collay and Dr. Roberts-Morandi – thank you for your guidance and feedback along the way. Dr. Bryant, my affiliate member – thank you for helping me introduce commuter student-athletes to the world of research and for your continued friendship. To Katie Brenner and James Daley: thank you for laughing, crying...but mostly laughing, with me ever since 801. Special thank yous go to my best friend and my family for their encouragement every step of the way. Gudaz: you inspired me to try this crazy thing and showed me that it can be done. Mom, Dad, Kyle, and Shea: thanks for always having my back and for listening to me complain about homework. Thank you to the staffs at As Is in Hell's Kitchen and Whole Foods in Indy – you helped me through many a writing session. Finally, thank you to the student-athletes at the John Jay College of Criminal Justice for motivating me to pursue this research in the first place – I hope the results will help make your time as a Bloodhound even better.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTIII
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSVI
LIST OF TABLESXI
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION1
Commuter status4
Lack of support from athletic administrators5
Priorities of student-athletes
Director of Athletics
Student-athlete development professional
Coaching staff7
Statement of the problem
Purpose of the study9
Research Questions9
Conceptual Framework
Astin's Theory of Student Involvement
Tinto's Theory of Student Departure11
Strengths and Limitations
Significance of the study14
Definitions17
Conclusion17
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW19
Commuter Student Population

Student-Athlete Population	22
Commuter Students and Student-Athletes as One Population	26
Student-Athlete Development Programming	27
Assessment of Existing Literature	28
Commuter Student Population	28
Student-Athlete Population	29
Student-Athlete Development Programming	31
Conclusion.	31
CHAPTER THREE: METHODOLOGY	33
Setting	33
Participants/Sample	36
Data	37
Demographics	38
Being the object of attention of others	38
Perception of support in various student endeavors by others	38
Supportive athletic department	38
Sense of fit within the college	39
Perceived marginality owing to personal characteristics	39
Academic motivations	39
Athletic motivations	39
Other considerations affecting engagement	39
Analysis	40
Participant rights	41

	Potential limitations of the study	42
СН	IAPTER FOUR: RESULTS	43
	Survey Data	44
	Demographics	45
	Being the object of attention of others	48
	Perception of support in various student endeavors by others	50
	Supportive athletic department	51
	Sense of fit within the college	54
	Perceived marginality owing to personal characteristics	55
	Attendance at various events	58
	Ranking of priorities	59
	Interview Data	61
	Demographics	61
	Academic motivations	62
	Athletics motivations	63
	Other considerations affecting engagement	65
	Summary of the Findings	67
	Lack of knowledge and indifference about student-athlete development progr	amming68
	Athletics as a motivation tool	69
	Desire for a personal connection	71
	Conclusion.	73
СН	IAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	74
	Review of Research Questions and Summary of Responses	74

Research Question 1	75
Research Question 2	76
Interpretation and Alignment of Findings with Literature	77
Similarities	77
Differences	79
Implications and Recommendations for Action	79
Academics	80
Empathy	81
Staffing	83
Recommendations for Further Study	86
Comparison to peer institutions in New York City	86
Study commuter institutions in other urban environments	86
Study an ideal institution	87
Conclusion	87
REFERENCES	89

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1. Student-Athlete Participant Profile	47
TABLE 2. Being the Object of Attention of Others	48
TABLE 3. Perception of Support in Various Student Endeavors by Others	50
TABLE 4. Supportive Athletic Department.	52
TABLE 5: Sense of Fit Within the College.	54
TABLE 6. Perceived Marginality Owing to Personal Characteristics	55
TABLE 7. Ranking of Commuter Student-Athlete Priorities	60
TABLE 8. Student-Athlete Participant Profile	62
TABLE 9. Emerging Themes from Survey and Interview Data	67
TABLE 10. Student-Athlete Attendance at Campus Events	72

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

I actually take a bus and two trains plus the shuttle bus to get [here]. You know, it was going so well, until the B train turned local. So now, there's no B or Q that's express. So I had to change my route because I was getting late for class all the time. So now I take the 44 bus to the 2 or the 5, whichever one comes first. And then I'll take the 2 train...If I'm on the 2 train, I'll take the 2 to Franklin to get on the 4 or the 5. Get off at Fulton to take the A train to here (Regalado, p. 8).

This quote illustrates the experience of many undergraduate students who attend urban institutions. In fact, a 2016 survey of City University of New York (CUNY) students found that forty-nine percent of students spend at least six hours a week commuting to campus, and ninety percent fall into the category of spending at least one hour per week on a commute (CUNY Office of Institutional Research and Assessment, 2016). While having the dormitory experience may be considered to be a rite of passage for undergraduate students, this is not the case for urban, commuting students. The CUNY system, for example, only has residential facilities at six out of their twenty-four campuses (CUNY Office of Institutional Research and Assessment, 2016). Some institutions' residential facilities are located several city blocks away from campus, requiring students to commute via mass transit. It is estimated that less than five percent of CUNY's 270,000 enrolled students use the resident hall facilities (CUNY Office of Institutional Research and Assessment, 2016).

National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA) student-athlete development programming bridges the gap between student affairs and athletics. Programming is facilitated at the national level and executed on campus to fully prepare student-athletes for life through college and after graduation. At campuses in urban environments, student-athletes deal with the

same commute struggles as traditional students. Further, they work around practice and game schedules while commuting, not only to campus, but to various athletic facilities around an institution's city.

While media often focuses on the graduation rates of student-athletes, they lag behind their non-athlete peers in terms of key career readiness factors (Linnemeyer & Brown). Like their peers, student-athletes often have other commitments: family, jobs, and schoolwork. This is especially true for urban, commuter student-athletes, who have their academic and personal lives closely intertwined. Providing development programming to support and engage student-athletes can be a struggle for athletic departments staffs because it is difficult to engage student-athletes who are being pulled in several different directions at once.

Student-athletes will ultimately determine the success of an institution's personal and career development programs through their attendance, engagement, and belief in the programming. There are several challenges to this process, including: creativity, travel time, and staffing. Many athletic departments in urban environments need to get creative with their athletic facility use, as there is often not sufficient room on campus to field all sports. As a result, departments are left to find alternate facilities in their areas that can adapt to budget and scheduling restrictions.

Student-athletes must also consider travel time in and around the city they are located to get not only to campus for class, but to these alternate sites. Student-athletes may consider the extra commute time to practices and competition to be the only additional time that they are willing to devote to the department and its programming. For departments with high numbers of part-time coaches it is difficult for staff to be ambassadors for student-athlete development programming. Burns (2010) argues that small groups can survive almost anything when they

find a way to personalize their experience with the larger goals and, as such, it is crucial for the student-athlete development professional and the department to secure commitment from leadership at all levels.

According to the NCAA, the average Division III institution has an undergraduate enrollment of just over 2500 students (2018-2019 Facts & Figures). For urban institutions in the CUNY system, like John Jay College, this enrollment can soar to over 13,000 students (CUNY Office of Institutional Research and Assessment, 2016). Urban institutions without established student-athlete development or academic support programs are not the norm within Division III, but adding such programming is an opportunity for improvement. If an athletic department can engage their student-athletes for the four years they have them, it may benefit from more engaged alumni to draw from in the future.

The NCAA Division III mantra is "offering participation in a competitive athletic environment that pushes student-athletes to excel on the field and build upon their potential by tackling new challenges across campus" (About Us: NCAA Division III). This directive requires administrators to support and promote academic achievement, athletic success, and personal well-being. That support can aid Division III student-athletes in taking responsibility for their own paths, following any interests they may have, and having an educational experience that is free of the expectations associated with athletic scholarships.

For Division III student-athletes who are also urban, commuter students, those paths are not as clearly defined. That is due, in part, to researchers regularly treating commuter students as a homogenous group instead of committing time and resources to study the in-group differences of the population (Dugan, Garland, Jacoby, & Gasiorski, 2008). According to Pokorny, Holley, & Kane (2017) some of those differences result from the heavy influence of a student's family

and community. Commuter students feel that their social lives suffer, their choice of university is limited, and that if they engage with their college campus they will "experience a degree of alienation from their own background culture" (Pokorny, Holley, & Kane, 2017).

Athletic professionals who have previously worked on urban, commuter campuses have noted that student-athletes do not make the connection to how the NCAA priorities of academic support, career readiness, and immersive educational experience can benefit them (Dominguez, personal communication). This is an idea echoed by Kirk & Lewis (2012) who noted that for commuter students, the campus is not a place to connect and participate, but a setting where they attend class and leave, much like stopping at a mall or gym (p. 56). Even those who may have an interest in becoming engaged with their campus choose not to because it is easier to remain uninvolved than to rearrange their off-campus lives (Kirk & Lewis, 2012). The three most critical issues surrounding the lack of urban student-athlete engagement are an institution's status as a commuter institution, the lack of support from athletic administrators at the top of the organization, and the priorities of the student-athletes (Dominguez, personal communication).

Commuter status

Urban student-athletes deal with the same commutes as traditional urban students but must also account for practices and competitions. Given their locations in the middle of cities, urban institutions cannot always offer on-campus facilities to all of their NCAA sponsored teams. As such, student-athletes must find ways to commute to various athletic facilities around the cities where they live and attend school. For John Jay College student-athletes this is especially true because their academic and personal lives are so closely intertwined. At the time of this research, John Jay Athletics struggled to prove validity of NCAA endorsed programming

because it traditionally had been difficult to engage student-athletes who are being pulled in several different directions at once.

Lack of support from athletic administrators

John Jay College is part of the CUNY Athletic Conference (CUNYAC), whose mission is to "provide all students with the opportunity to participate in a competitive athletic environment and supportive learning atmosphere, where life skills such as leadership development, sportsmanship, healthy living, and community service are of vital importance" (CUNYAC Mission, 2017). While there are concrete goals surrounding student-athlete recruitment and athletic performance, there is a lack of goals for student-athlete development. As a result, student-athlete development professionals arrange programming with little attendance or engagement from student-athletes. John Jay student-athletes see their athletic participation in terms of practices and games, only; they do not make the link with other services offered by the department (Dominguez, personal communication).

The athletic director at John Jay College is supportive of student-athlete development initiatives but is reluctant to devote resources to programming efforts because she feels funding is better spent elsewhere; programming is not a priority (Dominguez, personal communication). Athletic department support is most often found behind programs that are offered as a result of NCAA grants or stipends. This results in a lack of consistent programming because there is no guarantee of grants/stipends from year to year. The student-athlete development professional is left to determine how to deliver programming at events that are already attended by student-athletes, including pre-existing Student-Athlete Advisory Committee (SAAC) meetings. The SAAC has club status at John Jay, meaning there is a small budget to use for committee events.

That budget is typically spent on food to improve attendance at meetings, instead of on enhancement of programming.

Priorities of student-athletes

The question of whether athletics and student-athlete development programming matters at John Jay is an important one. As a Division III institution whose intention is to serve the population of New York City's five boroughs, John Jay offers student-athletes the opportunity to live close to home and to avoid extraordinary student loan debt. Eighty percent of those students who earned an undergraduate degree graduate did so with no student debt due to financial aid and affordable tuition. For 2016-2017 the tuition at a CUNY institution was \$6,330, compared to an average private college cost in the New York region of \$38,630 (Comparing College Costs, 2017).

At the time of this study, John Jay student-athletes did not see department programming as an important part of their college experience. They were more concerned with their schoolwork, jobs, and family commitments. Being able to compete while also benefitting from affordable tuition was an added bonus, but they had no interest in using athletic resources in other areas of their lives (Dominguez, personal communication). Student-athletes were unable to see how student-athlete development programming will shape their future because they are limited to only four seasons of a given sport.

Director of Athletics

The director of athletics is crucial for both the support of student-athlete development programming and the dedication of resources to any change effort. They must be able to be transactional in some cases and transformational in others. Transactional leadership is key for institutions which run on limited financial resources and need help from campus partners to

make programming happen. According to Burns (2010), if leaders are unwilling to carry their representation of followers to the point of conflict with other groups, they may be viewed as someone with particular and individual goals. Transformational leadership is also important because it will compel others to work on behalf of the group (Burns, 2010, p. 157). In addition to wins and losses, the Director of Athletics must be willing to place student-athlete personal and career development among their top priorities.

Student-athlete development professional

The student-athlete development professional at an institution is responsible for the day-to-day enactment of programming and engagement goals. Given the challenging environment of engaging commuter students, it is important for this position to engage in professional development and self-reflection. It can be tempting to try to institute programming to a diverse student-athlete base in the same way, but they must be able to work with those that learn in ways different from their own. Professional development programming is available through both the NCAA and the National Association of Academic and Student-Athlete Development Professionals (N4A).

Coaching staff

The coaching staff of any athletic department is also an important player in the delivery of student-athlete development programming. The connection may not seem obvious at first, however Rubin & Moreno-Pardo (2018) noted that administrators and coaches alike have a client-centered perspective. Coaches are critical to communicating the availability of programming to the student-athletes. For coaches the clients are student-athletes, and their performance on and off the field is important. Fisher et al. (2017) also found that when coaches are responsive to student-athletes' needs, the athletes feel confident in their ability to develop

both within and outside of their sport. With that said, it can be difficult for athletic administrators to convince coaches that programming is valuable and to potentially devote practice or preparation time to such programming. In order to increase the chances that coaches will embrace the department's priorities, student-athlete development goals need to be included in all head coach interview processes. Coaches in every sport are important but if high-publicity sports, like basketball and soccer, commit to this approach, chances increase that other sports will follow.

Statement of the problem

For the CUNY Athletic Conference and for John Jay College, specifically, in addition to following the intricacies of NCAA and CUNY regulations, the focus is student-athletes. Their mission is to "provide all students with the opportunity to participate in a competitive athletic environment and supportive learning atmosphere, where life skills such as leadership development, sportsmanship, healthy living, and community service are of vital importance" (CUNYAC Mission, 2017). Within the CUNYAC, each campus is challenged to establish their own SAAC but often struggle with disinterest and low attendance at meetings. According to Gabby Dominguez, former Coordinator of Academic Success, Compliance, and Eligibility at John Jay College "we can't even get student-athletes to our own SAAC meetings because we're competing for their time" (personal communication, June 13, 2017). Dominguez suggested that the CUNY Athletic Conference would be wise to allow member schools to increase their own student-athlete engagement before focusing on similar initiatives at the conference level (personal communication, June 13, 2017). Urban commuter student-athletes' time is valuable and administrations are constantly competing for it.

According to Navarro & Malvaso (2015), no national assessment exists to ensure institutions and departments are providing consistent programming in the areas of student-athlete personal and career development. This, coupled with the fact that student-athletes in an urban setting have not been extensively studied, creates a problem for university systems like CUNY and campuses like John Jay College. Recommendations from the NCAA regarding programming have not been modified and, as a result, student-athlete development professionals are left to adapt on their own (Navarro & Malvaso, 2015). A "one size fits all" approach to personal and career student-athlete development programming has not been proven to be effective for urban student-athletes.

Purpose of the study

The purpose of this research was to use statistical data, supplemented by individual interviews, to document the priorities and perspectives of student-athletes in an urban, commuting population. The result of this documentation was insight into more effective methods of delivering student-athlete development programming. In a traditional campus setting, students are contained in a "bubble" on their campus and can easily be involved with institutional groups or events. This is not always the case with urban institutions because the student-athletes are balancing their academics and athletics with family commitments, jobs, and long commutes to school.

Research Questions

The following research questions were addressed in this study:

RQ1: How do urban commuter student-athletes characterize intercollegiate athletics as part of their campus experience?

RQ2: How does personal and career programming offered by the athletic department influence urban commuter student-athlete behavior and choices?

Conceptual Framework

Student-athletes often deal with the same struggles as traditional students at their institutions in terms of engagement and integration into the college community. Student-athletes enrolled at commuter institutions can face an even larger battle because their engagement is based on how much time they are willing and able to spend on campus. Work, family, and other commitments can result in less exposure to NCAA life skills programming, which aims to prepare student-athletes for life after athletics. Urban commuter institutions must find a way to respect the unique priorities of their student-athletes, while at the same time deliver and maintain the programming that the NCAA expects of their membership. Two main theories guide the research and discussion of student-athlete engagement at commuter institutions: Astin's (1999) Theory of Student Involvement and Tinto's (1988) Theory of Student Departure.

Astin's Theory of Student Involvement

Astin's Theory of Student Involvement has been updated and revised several times since its inception in 1984. Simply put, Astin (1999) considers student involvement to be the amount of physical and psychological energy that the student devotes to the academic experience. According to his theory a highly involved student is one who devotes energy to studying, spends time on campus, and participates actively in student organizations, while a student who does not do these things is not highly involved (Astin, 1999).

In his theory, Astin (1999) noted that student involvement occurs along a continuum, with different individuals investing different amounts of energy in various objects at various times. Research that chooses student involvement theory as a guide must consider mixed

methods, as according to Astin (1999), involvement includes quantitative and qualitative components. Another tenet of the theory is that the amount of student learning and personal development is directly proportional to the quality and quantity of involvement. Astin (1999) theorizes that the effectiveness of any educational practice is directly related to the capacity of that policy or practice to increase involvement. As such, student-athlete development professionals cannot just *offer* life skills programming, they must offer programming that the student-athlete deems applicable and constructive.

Tinto's Theory of Student Departure

Tinto's (1988) Theory of Student Departure takes the idea of student involvement one step further by exploring the impact involvement has on student persistence. Tinto (1988) argued that the more students learn, the more likely they are to persist. Throughout the discussion of this theory, a student persisting is how Tinto (1988) describes a student remaining enrolled at their institution. Like Astin, Tinto's theory has also seen revisions, including in 1993 when he included a more detailed discussion of the interaction between behavior and perception by students as they moved toward integration of their social and academic environments (Milem & Berger, 1997).

According to Tinto (1988), there are three stages for a student to navigate in order to successfully integrate into the academic and social systems at their college: separation, transition, and incorporation. Separation involves a student's ability to disassociate themselves from the norms of past communities, including families, high school friends, or other local ties (Tinto, 1988). Tinto (1988) noted that for virtually all students, the process of separation is at least somewhat stressful. For commuter students some of the stress may be lessened because they are not required to completely dissociate from their local ties (Tinto, 1988). With that said,

commuter students may be unable to take full advantage of the opportunities for integration into the social and intellectual life of their college (Tinto, p. 443). As a result, commuter students may be less stressed but their experience may also be less rewarding. Tinto (1988) noted that by staying at home, commuter students risk exposure to external forces that pull them away from incorporation into the communities of the college.

The transition stage of student departure is a period of passage between a student's associations of their past and potential new associations with communities of their present (Tinto, 1988). During this period students have yet to acquire the normal behaviors of their new community and they have yet to establish the personal bonds that accompany membership in the community (Tinto, p. 444). A student may withdraw from the college during the transition period if they do not receive assistance from the institution. This is due more to an inability to cope with the stress of the transition than with an inability to become integrated (Tinto, 1988). Tinto (1988) noted that an absence of assistance may cause a student to withdraw without having made a serious attempt to adjust to life at the college. This finding is also applicable for commuter students. Inability to deal with the stress of the transition stage results in a commuter student limiting the amount of time they spend on campus (Tinto, 1988). This restricts the student's interactions with members of the college communities and the learning of important norms required for full incorporation into the life of the college (Tinto, p. 445).

Tinto's (1988) final stage of student departure theory is incorporation, or when students adapt to and adopt the prevailing norms and behavior patterns of their college community (p. 445). Once incorporated a student become is fully integrated into the new community on their campus. Tinto (1988) made an important distinction: successful incorporation and integration into a new community does not necessarily predict student persistence.

According to Junco (2012) students who are more engaged inside and outside of the classroom exhibit a stronger sense of personal identity that can clarify career decisions and civic engagement after college. For urban commuter student-athletes, this would mean experiencing all three of Tinto's (1988) stages and finding them worthwhile, to satisfy Astin's (1999) requirement of student involvement. Both Tinto (1988) and Astin (1999) consider student retention in their theories; whether the students are becoming engaged with their campus in order to, eventually, reach graduation.

The conceptual frameworks of Tinto and Astin only tell part of the story for the urban, commuter student-athletes in this study. According to internal John Jay College data collected for the 2017-2018 NCAA Graduation Rates Report, the overall student body population is graduating at a rate of 42 percent, compared to 43 percent for student-athletes in the same sixyear cohort (John Jay College NCAA Graduation Rates Report). Both rates are lower than the average for all of the NCAA Division III institutions who saw a 65 percent overall graduation rate, with 49 percent among student-athletes (Overall Division III, 2018). If engagement with campus initiatives results in higher graduation rates, there must be a gap in department programming engagement with John Jay's student-athletes.

Strengths and Limitations

According to Tinto (1988), colleges are both academic and social environments (p. 448). Because of this, a student's retention at their institution can be affected by factors from either environment, or both. Campus groups like athletic departments can aid individuals who are going through the three stages of student departure. Tinto (1988) acknowledged that athletics establishes the opportunity for repetitive contact with members that can set up potential incorporation for new members. His theory is that formal groups like athletics do not leave new

students without assistance because they provide the rituals, ceremonies, and opportunities to learn the new norms and behaviors of the institution (Tinto, 1988).

A strength of Astin's (1999) theory is its ability to consider items in addition to grade point average when evaluating student involvement. Previous studies involving student-athletes use grade point average or community service hours as measures of success. Astin (1999) mentioned that this was an impetus for the development of his theory. He noted that there was something beyond grades that would explain how these educational programs translated into student achievement (Astin, 1999).

There are considerations that must be made when applying Astin's (1999) and Tinto's (1988) theories to commuter student-athletes. Tinto (1988) noted that all students may not experiences the three stages in the same sequence or at the same time. For some students, the stages may even overlap or occur simultaneously (Tinto, 1988). Both Astin (1999) and Tinto (1988) focused the development of their theories on the early years of a student's collegiate career. Researchers must be cognizant of this when applying the theories to a student's entire tenure at their institution.

While there is extensive literature on commuter students and student-athletes separately, there is very little existing literature studying the treatment of commuter students and student-athletes as one population. Similarly, the application of Astin's (1999) Theory of Student Involvement or Tinto's (1988) Theory of Student Departure is limited.

Significance of the study

On a small scale the results of this research can be used to influence the student-athletes at each of the CUNY campuses, and will help guide administration in following the tenets of the NCAA Division III experience. Success on the campus level translates into a more engaged

conference student-athlete population, benefitting the entire CUNY Athletic Conference. The research findings also have potential effect outside of the CUNY system. Urban institutions, regardless of NCAA division status, can benefit if the research results in a list of best practices for engaging student-athletes. NCAA Division III institutions that are looking to create student-athlete engagement strategies for the first time, or building upon existing ones, will also be able to use the information gathered in urban commuter student-athlete research.

If John Jay student-athletes become engaged with programming, the department's programming will most closely align with the goals set forth by the NCAA, resulting in more active and prepared student-athletes. It will also help the student-athlete development professional fulfill their job function, allowing them to validate their position in the department. Student-athletes will be better prepared for life after athletics, increasing the chances of securing employment upon graduation. Eventually this will translate into engagement at the alumni level and it will allow John Jay to say, without a doubt, that they are following the missions set forth by the NCAA and CUNY Athletic Conference.

The findings from this research can be immediately applied to student-athletes development programming at John Jay College. Because student-athlete development is currently being offered in conjunction with SAAC meetings, short-term goals will center on SAAC membership. This includes having representation from all 15 teams and transitioning from having to force membership to volunteers to join. A strengthened SAAC will focus on ownership of development priorities, so that administration can facilitate programming that will be meaningful to the membership. In addition to alumni engagement, the long-term goal of student-athlete development programming will be the establishment of the Bloodhound Leadership Academy. The Academy will become a routine part of the student-athlete experience

at John Jay, offering different leadership programming for each year of a student-athlete's time at the college.

Given many of the staffing and resource challenges that NCAA Division III institutions like John Jay face, transformational leadership is crucial. In order to secure funding or other resources the student-athlete development professional may need to work with other college departments and convince those departments that what they are asking for is warranted. When used effectively, transformational leadership will help student-athletes see that the programming that is offered to them meant to boost their career, financial, or personal preparedness instead of pull them down. A transformational student-athlete development professional will also be able to communicate to all stakeholders how their programming helps to elevate the overall goals of the athletic department.

The outcomes of attendance, representation, and participation will be crucial to success. First, student-athletes must attend SAAC meetings on a regular basis. If this happens, and happens voluntarily rather than by requirement, then the department can begin to shift programming from the SAAC meetings to independent events. Representation is slightly different from attendance in that success in this outcome will mean that attendance is coming from each of the fifteen teams at John Jay, instead of only a handful. Participation will be deemed successful in two ways. If there is a point when the student-athletes drive the programming choices, instead of the student-athlete development professional, this outcome will be met. Additionally, if more senior student-athletes are leaving John Jay Athletics with concrete career plans that will signal that they took advantage of the programming made available to them. Without success in these outcome areas, all further student-athlete development efforts will be futile.

According to Melendez (2016) four-year commuter colleges make up thirty percent of the total number of senior colleges in the country. With just under 500,000 total NCAA student-athletes competing today, it is safe to say that these two populations intersect (National Collegiate Athletic Association, 2017). Many of the findings associated with engagement of residential students may not be applicable to commuter students, especially students who are also student-athletes.

Definitions

CUNY: Acronym for the City University of New York.

CUNYAC: Acronym for the City University of New York Athletic Conference.

Division III: The division of NCAA membership of the CUNY Athletic Conference. Division III institutions focus on the entirety of the student-athlete experience, academic and athletic, and do not offer athletic scholarships.

NCAA: Acronym for the National Collegiate Athletic Association, the governing body of college athletics.

SAAC: Acronym for the Student-Athlete Advisory Committee. Both member institutions and conferences have their own versions of SAAC, which allow student-athletes to have a voice in policy-making decisions.

Urban institution: an institution of higher education that is socially involved and serves as a resource for educating the citizens of the city or region in which is it located.

Conclusion

Urban, commuting student-athletes break the mold in many ways, given the unique conditions placed upon them by their member institution and the NCAA. Given their substantial contributions to the campus environment and the CUNY Athletic Conference, student-athletes

make up a significant cohort. The NCAA has outlined specific expectations for the Division III experience and the John Jay Athletics student-athlete development staff is charged with finding ways to best align the department with those initiatives. The upcoming chapters will explore the current literature on the subject and detail the research conducted on this subject. Ultimately, recommendations will be made to John Jay Athletics on whether the engagement is a priority to the student-athletes, and how to best engage the urban commuter student-athlete population.

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

This integrative literature review will examine the existing research on two populations: commuter students and student-athletes. To obtain the research to be discussed, databases were searched for the keywords commuter students and student-athlete engagement. The goal of this literature review is to illustrate the need to devote research to these groups as one population so that institutions, especially in urban environments, can effectively integrate development programming for their commuting student-athletes.

National Collegiate Athletics Association (NCAA) life skills programming bridges the gap between student affairs and athletics (Leach, 2015). Such programming is facilitated at the national level and executed on campus to fully prepare student-athletes for life through college and after graduation (Leach, 2015). No matter the division within the NCAA or the institutional resources available, student-athlete development programs can only be truly effective if student-athletes actively participate. At institutions with large commuter populations, student-athlete development professionals are tasked with convincing athletes that such programming will yield returns that are reflective of the planning and time investment.

Commuter Student Population

Students who commute to campus represent a unique and under-assessed population of students, despite representing a majority on most college campuses (Biddix, 2015). Biddix (2015) noted that commuter students can be particularly difficult to research given their off-campus residencies because most studies involving students are conducted using e-mail lists of residents or are paper administered during meetings on residence hall floors or in campus-sponsored housing.

The existing research on commuting students typically focuses on how their external and non-academic commitments affect their academic performance. Burlison (2015) found those commitments compete for the student's time and campus engagement and can include work, family, and the time that they devote to their commute each day. Going to college becomes part of a commuter's existing routine; the student and their family see college experience as a nonevent because the other aspects of their life remain intact (Jacoby, 2015). This is a departure from residential college students who experience a clear transition from leaving home, moving into campus housing, and beginning a new life on campus.

That is not to say that commuter students do not experience any changes upon their college enrollment. Melendez (2016) detailed several additional stressors that commuter students are faced with. First, their neighborhood or community friendships can be abandoned, especially if a student's friends did not decide to attend college. Commuter students may seek out connections with peers only when the relationships will support college activities, but they rarely continue these friendships outside of the academic setting. In the instances where a commuter student would be interested in continuing a friendship made while attending college, their external responsibilities sometimes make that overwhelming and impossible (Melendez, 2016).

According to Jacoby (2015), many commuter students find they feel like strangers on their college campuses, fearful that they are not in control of their lives, and lack confidence in their ability to meet professor expectations. This lack of both social and academic engagement can lead to a sense of marginalization for commuter students (Darling, 2015). Students who feel marginal are less likely to engage in the types of college experiences that lead to educational success (Jacoby, 2015). It is a continuous cycle that many student affairs professionals have

been unable to break. As Newbold (2015) noted, the demographic characteristics of the commuter student are well understood, but the sources of their stress with college life and the coping strategies they employ have not been thoroughly researched.

Demographically, commuter students are often compared to, and grouped with, non-traditional students. Newbold (2015) and Darling (2015) define non-traditional students as those who have not followed a continuous educational path into college. These students tend to be older, often have family and home responsibilities, work part-time or full-time, and have limited time on campus to access faculty. Their access to support programs and facilities, co-curricular activities, and campus-specific technologies is also limited (Darling, 2015; Newbold, 2015).

Many studies of commuter students point to Astin's Theory of Student Involvement (Burlison, 2015; Regalado, 2015; Snyder, 2011). The theory, in part, suggested that students who commute and work off-campus have lower levels of involvement on campus than their peers. Snyder (2011) cited Astin's work on residency and academic performance and used it to suggest that the most direct effects on students' academic performance were associated with living at home and the distance from home to the campus. In this instance there were three residency options for the students: at home, in a college residence hall, and in a private room or apartment (Snyder, 2011).

The existing research on commuting students point to one overall theme: the greater distance that students have to travel from their residence to campus the greater the negative effect on academic performance and student engagement (Burlison, 2015; Darling, 2015; Kobus, 2015; Newbold, 2015; Regalado, 2015; Snyder, 2011). This can also affect student retention rates, satisfaction with faculty, and willingness to continue at the same university (Snyder, 2011). Specifically, for each additional hour of commute time, a student's time on campus is reduced by

0.65 days a week (Kobus, 2015). While they are on campus, commuter students will stay an average of fifty-two minutes longer for each additional hour of commute time (Kobus, 2015). Commute time is not the only factor in the equation, as Regalado (2015) found that the quality of a student's commute had significant impact on their ability to successfully accomplish scholarly work while commuting. Crowds, noise, and other undesirable conditions all have effects on the quality of a student's commute. Snyder (2011) found that when compared with commuter students, those living on campus reported more satisfaction with their overall college experience. Commuter students are left out of the direct benefits of living on campus, including developing leadership skills, interpersonal abilities, job skills, and cultural awareness (Snyder, 2011).

Student-Athlete Population

The study of student-athlete engagement has been documented for nearly forty years. By 1991, the NCAA issued a specific call to action to increase specialized programming at the campus level to focus on the holistic development of student-athletes (Navarro, 2015). This was a departure from the previous focus of many athletic departments: the maintenance of athlete academic eligibility. When the NCAA Life Skills program was created in the mid-1990s member institutions focused on five pillars: academic excellence, athletic excellence, personal development, career development, and community service (Navarro, 2015). According to Navarro (2015) despite these efforts no national assessment exists to ensure universities are consistently providing sound life skills programming.

As a result of the creation of the Life Skills program student-athletes are required to not only perform on the field but also to prepare to perform off the field. Self-identification solely with the role of athlete may inhibit the process of transitioning to life after competition in a profession other than professional sports (Navarro, 2015). This idea is echoed by Stone (2012)

who noted the dumb-jock stereotype can impact the academic performance and career readiness of college athletes. Stone's (2012) assertion that the term student-athlete implies an athlete on their own who is not academically high achieving can rob college athletes of the cognitive and emotional resources they need to succeed in college.

Umbach (2006) noted that self-identification as a student-athlete inspired their research. They worked under the assumption that student-athletes earn lower grades in college and that their institutions allow athletes to create their own subculture, isolated from the larger campus environment (Umbach, et al., 2006). Isolation was also addressed by Burns et al.'s (2013) study of career decision-making self-efficacy (CDSE). Student-athletes may be more at risk for having poor career decision-making skills because of their conflicting roles and isolation with a peer group that focuses on non-academic outcomes (Burns, Jasinski, Dunn, & Fletcher, 2013). By defining CDSE as a person's confidence in making career decisions, Burns (2013) theorized that student-athletes with low levels of CDSE would be more likely to avoid tasks like choosing a major, learning about their interests, and seeking out career information.

Astin's Theory of Student Involvement has also been applied to student-athletes (Huml, Svensson, & Hancock, 2017; Simiyu, 2010). Simiyu (2010) used the theory to stress that in order for a student-athlete to learn life skills, she or he must invest time and energy into the pursuit of learning. This requires effort, time, and commitment on the part of the student-athlete as well as an environment created by the institution that supports that effort. Huml (2017) used the theory as a lens to examine how intercollegiate athletic departments integrate community service into the educational experience of student-athletes, and to investigate variables associated with frequency of student-athlete community service (Huml, et al., 2017).

When considering student-athlete engagement with life skills programming, two themes emerged. Huml, Svensson, and Hancock (2017) believed that because the NCAA Divisions II and III have specific initiatives surrounding student-athletes performing community service, there would be higher levels of participation at such institutions. Mueller (2009) was guided by the role of emotional attachment to behaviors, the consequences of those attachments, and what educators can do to create emotional attachments. He suggested that a commitment to team building and publicly celebrating successes are areas in which educators can learn to better engage their students (Mueller, 2009).

The data collection methods used to research student-athlete engagement have been varied. McQuown Linnemeyer & Brown (2010) chose to work with two existing tools in order to gather their data. The Objective Measure of Ego Identity Status and the Career Maturity Inventory–Revised assessed student-athletes' identity status and career competencies by scoring them on different scales and subscales (McQuown Linnemeyer & Brown, 2010). Rettig & Shouping (2016) chose to pull data from the National Survey of Student Engagement (NSSE) in order to compare engagement in educationally purposeful activities in college, a set of educational outcomes, and the relationship between student engagement and educational outcomes for non-athletes and student-athletes. Others, including Czekanski (2015), Umbach (2006), and Huml, Svensson, & Hancock (2017) used their own surveys and analyzed that data for possible themes on engagement, support of their athletic department, and willingness to donate in the future.

Statistical analysis of student-athlete engagement has produced mixed results. Czekanski (2015) showed that student-athletes who planned community service events had greater perceptions of support from their athletic department. The degree of support student-athletes felt

from their athletic department was also found to be a significant predictor of their intent to donate money back to the athletic department (Czekanski, 2015). Rettig & Shouping (2016) found that their data varied for student-athletes in high-profile (football, basketball) and low-profile (Olympic) sports. Although both populations report similar levels of engagement, high-profile student-athletes face additional challenges to achieving the desired outcomes (Rettig & Shouping, 2016). For Huml, Svensson, & Hancock (2017) there were no statistically significant findings, which prompted the authors to express concern about applying Astin's theory of student involvement to student-athletes.

Other, non-statistical, conclusions on student-athlete engagement have been drawn in prior research. Student-athletes that primarily interact with coaches instead of professors tend to have lower grade point averages (Simiyu, 2010). Umbach, et al. (2006) noted that student-athletes at Division III schools also interact more frequently with faculty than students at Division I and Division II schools. Additionally, those that are provided assistance in achieving professional goals by their instructors tend to perform better academically in college (Simiyu, 2010).

Aside from conclusions, the existing literature on student-athlete engagement also presents direction for future research and best practices. Simiyu (2010) noted that the effort to help student-athletes evaluate themselves and set realistic goals on and off the field must be deliberate. This sentiment was echoed by Navarro (2015) and McQuown Linnemeyer & Brown (2010) who noted that all career programming for student-athletes should focus on communicating the significance of making career-related decisions and teaching student-athletes how to make rational career decisions regardless of competition level or type of sport.

Commuter Students and Student-Athletes as One Population

There is very little existing literature studying the treatment of commuter students and student-athletes as one population. While Snyder (2011) is focused entirely on determining if a NCAA Division-I freshman student-athlete's residence during their freshman year had a statistically significant relationship to academic performance, Melendez (2016) only considered athletics to be a piece of the puzzle. Instead the purpose of that research was to examine the potential impact of gender, race/ethnicity, and athletic participation on the adjustment to college for a group of freshmen at a four-year urban commuter institution (Melendez, 2016).

Despite its varied ethnic breakdown (two-thirds students of color and one-third Caucasian students), the population in the Melendez (2016) study was exclusively made up of commuter students who were recruited to participate. The population studied in Snyder's (2011) research, however, were all chosen from the same NCAA Division I athletic department but may or may not have qualified as commuter students. Surveys to determine residence were conducted amongst those who elected to participate.

Melendez (2016) noted that the lack of residential status may hinder the development of identity and have had an effect on the personal-emotional adjustment for student-athletes on a commuter campus. Athletics, however, can provide a pathway for improved social adjustment for students at a commuter institution (Melendez, 2016). Because joining a team can give athletes something that other commuter students do not experience, Melendez (2016) concluded that athletic participation is an important social influence for diverse freshman populations attending nonresidential urban commuter colleges.

Snyder (2011) found no statistical differences in the academic performances of resident and non-residents in their study. As a result, it was concluded that living in an on-campus or off-

campus environment had no statistical relationship with how the total population of NCAA DI freshman student athletes performed academically (Snyder, 2011). The research did suggest that Athletics participation may create more detachment for freshman student athletes than freshman non-athletes (Snyder, 2011). This detachment is similar to that which was discussed by Umbach, et al. (2006) and can include expectations of coaching staff, fatigue, pressure to perform, ethnic background, gender, college preparation, socio economic status, and place of residence.

Student-Athlete Development Programming

The existing literature on student-athlete development programming focuses mainly on identity. According to Navarro & Malvaso (2015) student-athletes are required to develop not only as high functioning athletes but also to prepare to be future contributing citizens. The identity of an athlete may take precedence over the process of transition to a life and a profession outside of sports (Navarro & Malvaso, 2015). Wang, et. Al (2013) noted that the majority of past research has focused on the academic strategies of freshmen, and less on the students' social strategies.

The idea that first year students need to make sense of the standards and requirements that are expected of them upon entering a college environment is not a new one (Wang, 2013). According to Navarro & Malvaso (2015), specifically, this is the idea that prompted the NCAA to issue a call to action to create and increase programming focused on the development of its student-athletes. The five areas of focus, or pillars, were academic excellence, athletic excellence, personal development, career development, and community service (Navarro & Malvaso, 2015).

Assessment of Existing Literature

Commuter Student Population

The existing research and literature involving commuter students lacks a clear direction. Darling (2015) proposed that commuters are students who do not live in institution-owned housing. Biddix (2015) noted that by oversimplifying the definition to include just those who do not live on campus can be problematic. There are several nuances that must be taken into consideration, including distance from campus, year in school, age, and additional factors such as disabilities, race/ethnicity, and class delivery method (Biddix, 2015).

Comparing commuter students to non-traditional students is also not sufficient.

Melendez (2016) used such a definition and noted that commuter students were more likely to be transfer students, were likely to work more hours per week, were likely to earn more income, were likely to be less involved in school sponsored activities, were less likely to believe the university is distinct, were less likely to believe the university had a good reputation, were less likely to identify with the university, and were less likely to be involved with the Alumni Association prior to graduation. This definition may work in some cases, but certainly not for traditional four-year institutions that happen to be located in urban areas.

Without a clear definition of commuter student, assumptions can be made (or missed) during the course of research. This is something that is clearly documented already, as four-year institutions are more likely to focus on the resident student experience as the predominant paradigm for considering student characteristics, access to degree programs, academic advising, support services, and student life activities (Darling, 2015). This is particularly discouraging given that, according to Darling (2015), for many institutions the commuter student population is

significant but has not been the primary focus in academic advising initiatives designed to make an impact on student success.

The existing literature on commuter students is also limiting because the primary focus of the research is academic performance. There are many other non-academic commitments and measures that can be analyzed using commuter students. Burlison (2015) noted that a specific weakness in the current literature is that all non-academic commitments are combined into one group; if different commitments were studied separately, it would give a more accurate depiction of the commuter population.

In the instances that other measures have been studied, it has been in the form of social engagement. While the importance of faculty to student and student to student relationships is well documented, research cannot lay only in those areas. Attendance at campus sponsored events or in campus owned facilities is also crucial. Regalado (2015) began to pursue this route, as the goal of that study was to provide libraries in urban settings with best practices to serve their students.

Student-Athlete Population

Given the high-profile nature of collegiate athletics and the availability of athletic scholarships, it is not surprising that nearly all of the existing research on student-athlete engagement focuses on Division I NCAA institutions (Burns, Jasinski, Dunn, & Fletcher, 2013; Humlet al., 2017; Simiyu, 2010; Rettig & Shouping, 2016; Umbach, 2006). NCAA mandates on life skills programming are easily followed because some Division I institutions utilize previously established student-athlete organizations as a means to engage student-athletes in community service (Czekanksi, 2015).

Some researchers do not see an imbalance in the attention paid to Division I institutions, including Rettig & Shouping (2016) who noted that more research is needed on student-athlete engagement and educational outcomes at Division I institutions, where large variability in student demographics exists and pressure to balance athletic and academic responsibilities is greatest. Other studies, like Huml, et al. (2017), were content gathering data from athletic administrators instead of the student-athletes themselves. Given that 39% of all NCAA student-athletes compete on the Division III level (National Collegiate Athletic Association), focusing all research on Division I seems irresponsible.

Further data inconsistencies and assumptions are present in the existing research literature. Umbach et, al (2006) grouped all NCAA Division III institutions into one group of small and predominately liberal arts schools. In reality there are several large campuses, mostly in urban environments, that have enrollments that rival Division I schools. Umbach, et al. (2006) chose to do so, but Rettig & Shouping (2016) noted that the NSSE can skew data because it is only taking certain academic years into consideration. In other words, conclusions drawn using data that only represents first-year students cannot be applied to entire populations of student-athletes.

The current literature on student-athlete engagement leaves the definition of life skills programming open to interpretation. This fact is explicitly stated by Burns et al. (2013) who noted that, although the academic support services in their study differed between universities, the programs were based on the NCAA Life Skills program. The institutions in the Burns et al. (2013) study included some combination of an online assessment, career counselors, and resume workshops, but it is possible that institutions in other studies included different resources.

In similar fashion to the existing studies on commuter students, student-athlete engagement is typically measured, at least in part, by using grade point average. This literature review examined several studies that considered community service to be an acceptable measure of engagement (Czekanksi, 2015; Huml et al., 2017). As pointed out by Czekanksi (2015), community service as a measure may need further study because while the data can indicate the initial involvement of student-athletes, it does not clarify the extent of the role they took during the community service event. As noted by Simiyu (2010) there are other useful forms of engagement in addition to academic achievement. Involvement with faculty, involvement with student peer groups, and attendance at athletic department sponsored events all help to paint a clearer picture of effective student-athlete engagement.

Student-Athlete Development Programming

The NCAA requires all member institutions to implement some degree of the life skills' five pillars on their campus, but according to Navarro & Malvaso (2015) the implementation varies and there is little guidance from prior research. The research that does exist suggests that athletic programming should coincide with other campus initiatives (Navarro & Malvaso, 2015). This can be exhausting for student-athlete development professionals because the population he or she works with has specialized needs, especially in the area of scheduling (Navarro & Malvaso, 2015). For urban, commuting student-athletes this point is even more profound.

Conclusion

According to Melendez (2016) four-year commuter colleges make up over 30% of the total number of senior colleges in the country. With just under 500,000 total NCAA student-athletes competing today, it is safe to say that these two populations intersect (National Collegiate Athletic Association, 2017). Many of the findings associated with engagement of

residential students may not be generalizable to urban commuter students, just as traditional student involvement theories may not be suited for student-athletes (Melendez, 2016; Huml, Svensson, & Hancock, 2017).

As commuter students continue to attend an increasingly wide variety of institutions, student affairs professionals must develop a thorough understanding of their needs and create strategies to increase their persistence and engage them deeply and productively in learning (Jacoby, 2015). Similar sentiments were expressed by Navarro (2015), who noted that student-athlete development professionals must work to offer programming strictly for student-athletes that serves unique needs while also attempting to provide inclusive opportunities for student-athletes to participate in campus-wide career development events.

Mueller's (2009) anecdotal article represents a clear meeting between traditional academia and collegiate athletics. He noted that it is important to engage students emotionally, and it is a professional's job to build emotional significance where it is lacking. These professionals include everyone that a student-athlete comes into contact with: student affairs administrators, coaches, faculty, and student-athlete development administrators. This connection is crucial, as results indicate that satisfying development programs will be beneficial to student-athletes who feel that they will be unsuccessful and to those who believe that their future outcomes are a result of outside influences (Burnset al., 2013). The NCAA Life Skills program does not designate any of its pillars based on residency status and future research should be conducted to reflect that.

CHAPTER THREE: METHODOLOGY

This chapter details a mixed-methods study to evaluate the priorities of urban, commuting student-athletes at a NCAA Division III institution in New York City. The researcher chose this format in order to use a quantitative survey to gather data from a large student-athlete cohort, but also to conduct interviews to assess some of the unique qualitative characteristics of the student-athletes. This research will help athletic departments at urban, commuter institutions to better understand what student-athletes at their institutions expect and value when it comes to student-athlete development and engagement. As a result, departments will be able to develop more effective programming, helping to prevent wasting financial and personnel resources on efforts that will not resonate with the student-athletes.

The following research questions were addressed in this study:

RQ1: How do urban commuter student-athletes characterize intercollegiate athletics as part of their campus experience?

RQ2: How does personal and career programming offered by the athletic department influence urban commuter student-athlete behavior and choices?

Setting

In addition to following the intricacies of NCAA and conference regulations, the focus of the urban, commuter institution in this study is its student-athletes. Their mission is to "provide all students with the opportunity to participate in a competitive athletic environment and supportive learning atmosphere, where life skills such as leadership development, sportsmanship, healthy living, and community service are of vital importance" (CUNYAC Mission, 2017). Effective student advocacy is also a focus of the institution and they attempt to honor that value through the creation of a Student-Athlete Advisory Committee (SAAC). SAAC members are

able to offer their opinions on current and proposed conference and NCAA legislation so that those making the ultimate decisions are as informed as possible. Members of SAAC also create, promote, and execute programming for student-athletes at different points during the semester.

The institution's athletic department relies heavily on funds generated by the annual Student Activity Fee, a portion of a student's cost of attendance (City University of New York Athletic Conference Strategic Plan 2012-2016, p. 9). The athletic department must continually prove itself as an essential piece of the student experience in order to keep receiving financial support from the fee. This includes performance on the field, as well as promotion of how student-athletes are contributing to their campus on a larger scale. According to Gabby Dominguez, a former athletic coordinator at John Jay College, this is not the case because "we can't even get student-athletes to our own meetings because we're competing for their time" (personal communication, June 13, 2017). This competition does not help to strengthen the argument to continue using the student activity fee for athletic purposes (Dominguez, personal communication, June 13, 2017).

Given its urban location in the middle of New York City, the institution must be flexible with the expectations placed upon student-athletes. Of the fifteen varsity sports offered, only five have a facility on campus that can support home competition (About Us: John Jay Athletics, 2017). As a result, the department must partner with additional organizations such as Randall's Island Park (soccer, softball), the USTA National Tennis Center, and MCU Park (baseball) in order to secure space to hold competitions for the remaining sports (About Us: John Jay Athletes, 2017). Student-athletes are then expected to travel for their home competitions, something that is unique to the institution and the conference of which they are a part.

As a former assistant athletics director who was tasked with creating and implementing student-athlete development programming at the institution in this study, the researcher has experience working with urban, commuter student-athletes. That knowledge contributed to the decision to use both quantitative surveys and qualitative interviews to gather data for the study. Because the researcher no longer works for the institution whose student-athlete cohort will be studied, they will access the participants through virtual means. A survey was distributed to the student-athletes through the professional currently in the Assistant Athletics Director role. Participation in the qualitative interviews was offered at the end of the quantitative survey. Student-athletes volunteered to participate in the interviews, which were conducted over the Skype platform.

Founded in 1964, John Jay College of Criminal Justice is one of the nation's most prestigious liberal arts institutions. The theme of justice is at the heart of each program, ranging across the arts, sciences and humanities. The breadth and diversity of scholarship at John Jay promises a rich learning experience to their students. According to the Fast Facts on its website, John Jay offers the following academic programs and student-body composition (Fast Facts):

- 31 Majors
- 40 Minors
- 17 Master's Programs
- 3 Doctoral Programs
- Undergraduate students: 13,000
- Graduate students: 2,000
 - Student body: 47% Hispanic, 20% White, 17% Black, 10% Asian
- Nearly 400 Veterans enrolled

- 130+ nationalities represented
- 47% first-generation students
- 33% foreign-born students

Participants/Sample

The participants for this study were chosen based on their status as a student-athlete at an urban, commuter institution. They were contacted through email to participate in the study, but it was made clear that participation was optional. Demographic details including age, gender, ethnicity, year in school, sport, and commuter status were asked and noted at the onset of the online survey. All current student-athletes at John Jay College of Criminal Justice were included in the solicitation for participation in this study. As of the survey's first distribution on March 4, 2019 the student-athlete cohort at John Jay totaled 215 participants across fifteen varsity sports. Seven of the sports are able to conduct both practice and competition on John Jay's campus, while the remaining eight sports must commute additionally for practice and/or competition.

Participants were contacted three times to fill out the quantitative survey. The first email with the survey link was distributed when the survey went live, the second contact was sent a week into the study (March 11, 2019) and a final attempt to solicit participation took place the final day the survey was open (March 18, 2019). The researcher reached out to the coaching staff at John Jay College the Friday preceding the survey's distribution (March 1, 2019), to recruit their support in encouraging their teams to participate in the research project. Student-athletes who elected to participate in the interview portion of the research study included contact information at the conclusion of the survey so that the researcher was able to contact them. By providing contact information the student-athletes understood that their answers were no longer anonymous, but their identity would be kept confidential and used only by the researcher.

Data

Data for this study was collected using an online survey created on the REDCap platform and was supplemented using video (Skype) qualitative interviews. The surveys were distributed during the Spring 2019 term, aiming to minimize the conflict between participation and schoolwork for the student-athletes who chose to participate. The submission deadline for the online surveys was such that those who volunteered for qualitative interviews were also able to participate before midpoint of the Spring 2019 term.

Due to the limited preexisting research on the topic of urban, commuter student-athletes the quantitative survey instrument was adapted from the *College Mattering Inventory* created by Tovar, Simon, & Lee (2009). The framework for the instrument was that the perception of mattering is emotionally and cognitively related to a sense of belonging to and with others, thereby reducing feelings of marginality and disconnectedness (Tovar, Simon, & Lee, 2009). The creators of the instrument felt the need to address what had not yet been researched: the impact of psychosocial factors, such as the perceived experience of a greater sense of mattering (Tovar, Simon, & Lee, 2009). Prior to the Tovar, Simon, & Lee (2009) study, mattering in higher education had been reserved to studies with nontraditional college students. As illustrated in Chapter 2, urban commuter students exhibit several nontraditional qualities, making it an applicable and adaptable instrument for this study.

For the student-athletes who elected to participate in the quantitative portion of this research, questions were sorted into the following themes: demographics, being the object of attention of others (administration, coaches, student-athletes), perception of support in various student endeavors by others, supportive athletic department, sense of fit within the college, and perceived marginality owing to personal characteristics. These themes were adapted by the

researcher from those used by Tovar, Simon, & Lee (2009) to fit the setting of a NCAA Division III athletic department.

Student-athletes that participated in the qualitative portion of the research were asked questions in following areas: academic motivations, athletic motivations, and other considerations affecting engagement. These themes were developed by the researcher, based on her experience as a student-athlete development professional at the John Jay College of Criminal Justice from September 2015 through September 2018.

Demographics

Demographics questions assessed information about gender, ethnicity, generational status, commuter status, team participation, and employment off campus. The questions aimed to identify patterns around factors such as how many hours a week the student-athlete commutes to/from campus.

Being the object of attention of others

The questions created to address this theme assessed how student-athletes feel about being the object of attention for the athletics administration, coaching staff, and other student-athletes.

Perception of support in various student endeavors by others

Questions designated to address this theme assessed a student-athlete's perception of support from others (athletic administration, coaching staff, and other student-athletes) for their pursuits on campus that are unrelated to athletics practice or competition.

Supportive athletic department

Questions related to this theme assessed to what degree the student-athlete believes they are supported by John Jay College's athletic department.

Sense of fit within the college

Questions in this area addressed the student-athlete's sense of overall fit at John Jay College. This is inclusive of their experience as a student-athlete, as well as any other groups or clubs that they are involved with.

Perceived marginality owing to personal characteristics

The final quantitative theme was addressed using questions that assess the studentathlete's perceived marginality. Instead of measuring the effects of others on the student-athlete, these questions measured the characteristic with which the student-athlete identifies.

Academic motivations

The qualitative questions that focused on academic motivations secure information on the student-athletes major, career goals, and how those factor into their decision to attend the institution.

Athletic motivations

The questions in this area sought to ascertain the role that athletics plays in the student's experience. An example of a question on athletic motivations was "if athletics was not offered would you still have decided to attend John Jay College?" Questions from this part of the survey helped explain the role/importance that athletics have for student-athletes.

Other considerations affecting engagement

The other considerations questions asked the student-athletes about any other items that may have affected their decision to attend John Jay College, or their decisions on whether or not they have engaged with student-athlete programming. Examples of such items were familial commitments, cost of attendance, or lack of desire to engage.

Analysis

Due to the dual nature of this research study, two separate analyses took place. For the quantitative online surveys, a statistical analysis was performed using the REDCap platform. Prior to the distribution of the surveys, each of five themes discussed in the previous section were assigned a minimum of six survey questions. The specific breakdown of questions per theme was as follows: being the object of attention of others – eight questions; perception of support in various student endeavors by others – nine questions; supportive athletic department – eight questions; sense of fit within the college – ten questions; and perceived marginality owing to personal characteristics – six questions.

Each of the online survey questions and theme were assigned to address the two research questions explored by this study. RQ1 was addressed by documenting students' perceptions of support in their various student endeavors; by others, athletic department staff, and by their peers. The prompts also addressed students' sense of fit within the college, sensitivity to being the object of attention of others, and perceived marginality owing to their personal characteristics. RQ2 was addressed by the questions on perceived marginality.

A second analysis was conducted once the Skype interviews had been completed. Student-athletes had the opportunity to opt into participation for the qualitative portion of the study at the conclusion of the quantitative survey. The interviews were recorded using the Skype application and transcribed using the TranscribeMe online service. Interview transcripts were coded by summarizing themes and then by focusing those themes into specific ideas that could be used for data. Based on the themes that emerged from the coded interview transcripts, best practices for engaging urban, commuter student-athletes will be suggested in the following chapter.

Participant rights

In order to protect the rights of the participants in this study precautions were taken by the researcher. First, a proposal for research was presented to the IRB at the University of New England (UNE). Once approval for research was secured from UNE, the proposal and other required materials were presented and submitted to the department of Research Compliance at the John Jay College of Criminal Justice. In addition to the proposal itself, John Jay required the researcher to secure permission from the Director of Athletics, as well as to answer several questions regarding the research and its potential for impact at the College. The research was also approved by the NCAA, the national governing body of college athletics, since the participants of the study were current college student-athletes. The NCAA was the researcher's employer at the time of the study and the approval had to be secured to limit bias and/or conflict of interest.

Before beginning the online quantitative survey and, if applicable, the Skype qualitative interview all participants agreed that they understood the risks involved in participating in the research. All participants in the survey selected a radio button designated as "yes", indicating that they consented to participate in the survey. The researcher did not know who had not or had not filled out the survey at any point, unless a student-athlete voluntarily chose to participate in the additional interview.

All interviewees were read consent information prior to the start of the interview.

Interview participants were labeled by interview number and all names were kept confidential in the research results. All interviews were scheduled at a time picked by the student-athlete and it was understood that interview could have been terminated at any time by the interviewee or

interviewer. The invitation to participate in the research study stated that participation involved an online survey with the possibility of a follow up interview.

There were not any anticipated physical risks for the student-athletes who elected to participate in this study. Surveys were completed through REDCap and the platform did not collect any identifying information from participants. All student-athletes who did not wish to take part in the survey simply did not click on the survey link to begin participation.

Potential limitations of the study

At its onset, the researcher in this study had a vested interest in conclusions drawn from the data because of their position as the assistant athletics director for the institution. The researcher had served as the NCAA compliance officer, academic advisor, and student-athlete development professional for many of the potential participants of the study, as those areas were job functions during her tenure at the institution. When the quantitative survey was distributed there were potential participants who had never have had contact with the researcher because they became student-athletes after the researcher's departure from the institution. The researcher continued to work in the field of collegiate athletics after her departure from the institution used in the research study. As such, she still had an interest in the outcomes of the research.

Before collecting and analyzing the data, the researcher theorized that the urban, commuter student-athletes in this study would suggest that athletics were not among their highest priorities. In other words: other factors more significantly impacted their decision to attend and engage with their college. This theory was based on the researcher's own experience working at the institution in the study and her conversations with student-athletes during their tenure.

CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS

The intent of this two-phase, mixed methods study was to evaluate the priorities of urban, commuting student-athletes at a NCAA Division III institution in New York City. In the first phase, quantitative data was collected using survey questions with Likert scale responses that addressed the perceptions that student-athletes have about the support and development programming they currently receive from the athletic department at their institution. Information from this first phase was explored further in a second qualitative phase. In the second phase, interviews were used to probe more specific aspects of the student-athlete experience at the institution. The reason for following up with qualitative research in the second phase was to better understand what student-athletes at their institutions expect and value from their institution regarding student-athlete development and engagement.

The following research questions were addressed in this study:

RQ1: How do urban commuter student-athletes characterize intercollegiate athletics as part of their campus experience?

RQ2: How does personal and career programming offered by the athletic department influence urban commuter student-athlete behavior and choices?

The researcher used a quantitative research design that included two data collection procedures: the first was an online survey sent to 215 graduate and undergraduate student-athletes at the institution. The survey was distributed on three different occasions and was sent to all student-athletes, whether they had previously completed the survey. Participants were asked to rate their agreement based on a Likert-type scale: strongly disagree, disagree, neither agree or disagree, agree, and strongly agree. The response rate was 23.2 percent, for a participant cohort of 50 student-athletes (n=50). For the second part of data collection, the

researcher contacted student-athletes who had indicated at the conclusion of the online survey, their willingness to participate in an interview. Seven student-athletes had initially volunteered to participate and the researcher conducted interviews with two student-athletes over the Skype video platform. At the suggestion of the research advisors, the researcher separately reached out to student-athletes to secure more interviews. By using the direct message function on Instagram, the researcher contacted an additional seven student-athletes. Two of the additional seven student-athletes had also participated in the online survey, while the remaining five only participated in the interview portion of the study.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this mixed methods study was to evaluate the priorities of urban, commuting student-athletes at a NCAA Division III institution in New York City. As a result, athletics departments serving a similar student demographic may garner a better understanding of those factors influencing urban students' participation in athlete development programming. They may then use these recommendations to develop more effective programming, helping to prevent wasting financial and personnel resources on efforts that will not resonate with the student-athletes.

Aim of the Study

The aim of this study was to provide evidence-based recommendations to improve engagement with student-athlete development programming that can be presented to the athletics administration, so student-athletes are provided programming based on their needs and wants.

Survey Data

To analyze student satisfaction with the researched institution's current student-athlete development programming and engagement with the programming, the researcher reviewed the

answers to thirty-six survey questions which organized into five thematic clusters. These questions explore student-athlete attitudes around being the object of attention of others, the perception of support in various student endeavors by others (administration, coaches, student-athletes), the perception of a supportive athletic department, the student-athlete's sense of fit within the college, and their perceived marginality owing to personal characteristics. An additional six questions assessed the student-athletes' attendance at various campus events, eight questions collected demographic information, and a final section asked the student-athletes to rank six different priorities from most important to least important. In total, the student-athletes answered 56 survey questions.

Demographics

As a City University of New York (CUNY) institution, the college used in this study serves a unique and diverse student population. This population was reflected in the student-athletes who participated in the online survey for the research. Sixty-two percent (n=31) of participants in the study were female, while 38 (n=19) percent were male. Ethnically, 4 percent (n=2) of participants in the study identified as Black or African American, 10 percent (n=5) identified as Asian, 38 percent (n=19) identified as Hispanic, 36 percent (n=18) identified as White, 4 percent (n=2) identified as Two or More races, and 2 percent (n=1) responded as Unknown.

Prior to the study, the institution's website reported a first-generation student population of 47 percent (Fast Facts). Of the student-athletes who participated in the study 48 percent (n=24) of participants were first generation college students, while 50 percent (n=25) were not first generation, and one student-athlete (2 percent, n=1) preferred not to disclose their status. Scholastically, 16 percent (n=8) of participants were freshmen, 20 percent (n=10) were

sophomores, 38 percent (n=19) were juniors, 24 percent (n=12) were seniors, and 2 percent (n=1) was a graduate student.

Athletically, the student-athletes from all fifteen varsity teams across three seasons participated in the study. The fall sports accounted for 48 percent (n=24) of the participants; with men's and women's cross country each having 2 percent (n=1) of the student-athletes, men's soccer having 10 percent (n=5), women's soccer having 18 percent (n=9), women's tennis having 6 percent (n=3), and women's volleyball having 4 percent (n=2) of the cohort. Winter sports contributed the lowest participation rate, with 22 percent (n=11). Men's basketball, women's basketball, and rifle each had 4 percent (n=2) participation, cheerleading had 2 percent (n=1), and women's swimming resulted in 8 percent (n=4) of the participants in the study. The spring sports of baseball (14 percent, n=7), softball (4 percent, n=2), men's tennis (2 percent, n=1), and men's volleyball (10 percent, n=5) rounded out the 30 percent (n=15) participation from spring sports.

The demographic information that was collected also included how many off-campus hours a week the student-athlete works and the student-athletes recruitment status. 28 percent (n=14) of the participants worked zero to five hours, 14 percent (n=7) work six to ten hours, 20 percent (n=10) work eleven to fifteen works, 14 percent (n=7) work sixteen to twenty hours, and 24 percent (n=12) work over twenty hours per week. When asked whether or not they had been recruited to play at the institution in the study 30 percent (n=15) answered yes, while the remaining 70 percent (n=35) indicated that they had walked onto their respective teams.

As the main characteristic of the study was to assess *commuter* student-athlete preferences, the participants were asked to comment on the length of their commute, each way, to campus. With its residential facility twenty-five blocks away, every student-athlete commutes

in some way because there are no opportunities to live on campus. The student-athletes who do not take advantage of the residential facility either commute from their family home or they rent an apartment in one of New York City's boroughs. A staggering 70 percent (n=35) of student-athletes commute a minimum of thirty minutes to campus, compared to 30 percent (n=15) who commute less than thirty minutes. Of the 70 percent, 28 percent (n=14) of participants commute 61 to 90 minutes and 14 percent (n=7) commute for more than ninety minutes each way to campus. Table 1 summaries the demographic data for the student-athlete participants in this study.

Table 1
Student-Athlete Participant Profile

Gender		Ethnicity	_	First Generation	_
Female	62%	Asian	10%	No	50%
Male	38%	Black	4%	Prefer not to say	2%
		Hispanic	38%	Yes	48%
Year in school		Two or More	4%		
Freshman	16%	Unknown	2%	Commute	_
Graduate student	2%	White	36%	0 to 30 minutes	30%
Junior	38%			31 to 60 minutes	28%
Senior	24%	Recruited	_	61 to 90 minutes	28%
Sophomore	20%	No	70%	Over 90 minutes	14%
		Yes	30%		
Fall sports				Spring sports	_
Men's Cross Country	2%	Winter sports	<u>_</u>	Baseball	14%
Women's Cross Country	2%	Men's Basketball	4%	Softball	4%
Men's Soccer	10%	Women's Basketball	4%	Men's Tennis	2%
Women's Soccer	18%	Cheerleading	2%	Men's Volleyball	10%
Women's Tennis	6%	Rifle	4%		
Women's Volleyball	4%	Women's Swimming	8%		

During the analysis of the demographic information, the researcher discovered that the freshmen student-athletes responded at the lowest rate overall. This data point corresponds with one of the emerging themes of the research study: the idea that commuter student-athletes desire a personal connection with those delivering department programming. Before conducting the study the researcher had limited contact with the freshmen student-athletes, which may explain lower response rate.

Being the object of attention of others

Student-athletes were asked seven questions pertaining to their opinion on being the object of attention of others. In this case, "others" referred to the athletics administration, coaching staff, and other student-athletes.

Table 2
Being the object of attention of others

Q1: There are	e people in the athlet	ic department wh	o are determined to see	me succeed.			
	Strongly	Disagree	Neither Agree or	Agree	Strongly		
_	Disagree	Disagree			Agree		
	0%	4%	12%	42%	40%		
Q2: The athle	Q2: The athletics department generally does not care about student-athletes' well-being.						
	Strongly	Disagree	Neither Agree or	Agree	Strongly		
	Disagree		Disagree		Agree		
	26%	40%	22%	12%	0%		
Q9: Athletes on my team show interest in me because I make good contributions.							
	Strongly	Disagree	Neither Agree or	Agree	Strongly		
_	Disagree		Disagree		Agree		
	0%	2%	16%	62%	20%		
Q15: The athletic department is generally receptive to what I have to say.							
Q15: The ath	***			0270	2070		
Q15: The ath	***			Agree	Strongly		
Q15: The ath	letic department is go	enerally receptive	to what I have to say.	-			
Q15: The ath	letic department is go	enerally receptive	to what I have to say. Neither Agree or	-	Strongly		
	Strongly Disagree 6% ped participating in a	Disagree 8%	to what I have to say. Neither Agree or Disagree	Agree 34%	Strongly Agree		
Q17: If I stop	Strongly Disagree 6% ped participating in a	Disagree 8%	Neither Agree or Disagree 40%	Agree 34%	Strongly Agree		
Q17: If I stop	Strongly Disagree 6% pped participating in	Disagree 8% athletics, the athletics	Neither Agree or Disagree 40% etic administration wou	Agree 34% ld be	Strongly Agree 12%		
Q17: If I stop	Strongly Disagree 6% pped participating in a	Disagree 8% athletics, the athletics	Neither Agree or Disagree 40% etic administration wou	Agree 34% ld be	Strongly Agree 12% Strongly		

Q27: There a	re people in the athle	etic department w	ho are genuinely interes	sted in me as a p	oerson.
	Strongly	Strongly Disagree Neither Agree or Agre		Agree	Strongly
	Disagree		Disagree		Agree
	2%	16%	20%	42%	20%
Q28: Most o	f the athletic adminis	tration knows my	name.		
	Strongly	Disagree	Neither Agree or	Agree	Strongly
	Disagree		Disagree		Agree
	10%	24%	18%	22%	26%

When asked if there are people in the athletics department who are determined to see their success, 40 percent (n=20) of student-athletes strongly agreed and 42 percent (n=21) agreed. Only 12 percent (n=6) neither agreed or disagreed and 4 percent (n=2) disagreed that there are people invested in their success. That sentiment was echoed when the student-athletes were asked if the athletics department cares, generally, about their well-being, as only 12 percent (n=6) agreed that the department does not care. The student-athletes were asked if their peers show interest in them because of the contributions they make; 20 percent (n=10) strongly agreed, 62 percent (n=31) agreed, 16 percent (n=8) neither agreed or disagreed, and 2 percent (n=1) disagreed.

There was not strong agreement that the athletics department is receptive to what student-athletes have to say, as 54 percent (n=27) neither agreed or disagreed (n=20), disagreed (n=4), or strongly disagreed (n=3) with the statement. The student-athletes' ambivalence was also shown when asked how much they agree with the statement that if they stopped participating in athletics, the athletic administration would be disappointed. Neither agree or disagree was the most popular answer (42 percent, n=21), followed by disagree (30 percent, n=15), agree (18 percent, n=9), strongly agree (6 percent, n=3), and strongly disagree (4 percent, n=2). Finally, student-athletes were asked their opinion on whether most of the athletic administration knows their name. The outcome of that question was 26 percent (n=13) strongly agree, 22 percent

(n=11) agree, 18 percent (n=9) neither agree or disagree, 24 percent (n=12) disagree, and 10 percent (n=5) strongly disagree.

Perception of support in various student endeavors by others

Student-athletes were asked six questions pertaining to their perception of support from others in various student endeavors. "Others" again referred to the athletics administration, coaching staff, and other student-athletes.

Table 3
Perception of support in various student endeavors by others

as a student.	eel my coaches and a	dministrators care	more about other thin	gs than me	
	Strongly	Disagree	Neither Agree or	Agree	Strongly
	Disagree		Disagree		Agree
	18%	56% 48%		18%	0%
Q4: Knowing	g that other people at	the college care for	or me motivates me to	do better.	
	Strongly	Disagree	Neither Agree or	Agree	Strongly
	Disagree	_	Disagree		Agree
	0%	4%	12%	48%	36%
Q8: Adminis	trators tell me how m	uch they apprecia	nte my participation in	athletics.	
	Strongly	Disagree	Neither Agree or	Agree	Strongly
	Disagree		Disagree		Agree
	12%	18%	28%	34%	8%
Q13: It is con	nforting to know that	my contributions	s are valued by other st	udent-athlete	s.
	Strongly	Disagree	Neither Agree or	Agree	Strongly
	Disagree		Disagree		Agree
	0%	6%	12%	56%	26%
Q18: Sometingsay.	mes the athletic admi	nistration simply	does not listen to what	I have to	
	Strongly	Disagree	Neither Agree or	Agree	Strongly
•	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Neither Agree or Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
·		Disagree 22%	e e	Agree 22%	Agree
Q19: The ath	Disagree 10%	22%	Disagree	22%	Agree
Q19: The ath	Disagree 10%	22%	Disagree 42%	22%	Agree
Q19: The ath	Disagree 10% letic administrators a	22% re sensitive to my	Disagree 42% non-school responsib	22% ilities.	Agree 4%

The student-athletes did not often feel that their coaches and administrators care more about other things than their status as a student, as 56 percent (n=28) disagreed with the statement. Eighteen percent (n=9) strong disagreed, 48 percent (n=24) neither agreed or disagreed, while the remaining 18 percent (n=9) agreed that coach and administrator priorities are elsewhere. They are also motivated by being the focus of care for others, as indicated by the 84 percent of participants who either agreed (n=24) or strongly agreed (n=18) with that statement. Only 4 percent (n=2) disagreed with that being a source of motivation.

When asked if administrators tell them how much their participation in athletics is appreciated, 12 percent (n=6) strongly disagreed, 18 percent (n=9) disagreed, 28 percent (n=14) neither agreed or disagreed, 34 percent (n=17) agreed, and 8 percent (n=4) strongly agreed that that behavior was happening. When the appreciation comes from their peers, the answers changed, as 26 percent (n=13) strongly agreed and 56 percent (n=28) agreed when asked if it was comforting to know that contributions were valued by other student-athletes.

Perceptions of the athletic administration not listening to what they have to say saw the majority of student-athletes neither agreeing or disagreeing (42 percent, n=21), with 10 percent (n=5) strongly disagreeing, 22 percent (n=11) disagreeing, another 22 percent (n=11) agreeing and the final 4 percent (n=2) strongly agreeing. Student-athletes had similar responses to the question of whether athletic administrators were sensitive to non-school responsibilities; with 24 percent (n=12) disagreeing with the statement, 48 percent (n=24) neither agreeing or disagreeing, 22 percent (n=11) agreeing, and 6 percent (n=3) strongly agreeing with the sentiment.

Supportive athletic department

Student-athletes were asked seven questions pertaining to their opinions on the support they receive from the institution's athletics department.

Table 4
Supportive athletic department

Supportive athletic department					
Q5: There are people at the college that hete.	nat sincerely ap	preciate my inv	olvement as a stud	dent-	
atniete.			Neither Agree		
	Strongly	Disagree	or	Agree	Strongly
	Disagree		Disagree		Agree
	6%	10%	20%	40%	24%
Q7: Sometimes I feel that I am not va	luable to anvo	ne in the athletic	c department.		
2 , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,			Neither Agree		
	Strongly	Disagree	or	Agree	Strongly
	Disagree		Disagree		Agree
	22%	28%	24%	25%	0%
Q12: There seem to be many people is	in the athletic of	department who	wish to see me su	cceed.	
7. 1		•	Neither Agree		
	Strongly	Disagree	or	Agree	Strongly
	Disagree		Disagree		Agree
	0%	18%	14%	54%	14%
Q21: The administration appears hap	py when I deve	elop and prepare	for life after athle	etics.	
			Neither Agree		
	Strongly	Disagree	or	Agree	Strongly
	Disagree		Disagree		Agree
	0%	6%	36%	42%	16%
Q22: I feel supported by the athletic	department.				
	•		Neither Agree		
	Strongly	Disagree	or	Agree	Strongly
	Disagree		Disagree		Agree
	6%	14%	16%	46%	18%
Q25: If I had a problem, I believe the	athletic depart	tment would be	willing to discuss	it with me.	
•	•		Neither Agree		
	Strongly	Disagree	or	Agree	Strongly
	Disagree		Disagree		Agree
	4%	14%	22%	44%	16%
Q29: Administrators in the athletics g	generally show	their concern fo	or student-athletes	' well-being.	
			Neither Agree		
	Strongly	Disagree	or	Agree	Strongly
	Disagree		Disagree		Agree
	2%	16%	24%	40%	18%

When asked if sometimes they feel that they are not valued by the athletics department, there were no student-athletes who strongly agreed, however 50 percent (n=25) either agreed (26 percent, n=13) or neither agreed or disagreed (24 percent, n=12). Twenty eight percent (n=14)

disagreed with the statement and 22 percent (n=11) strongly disagreed. Based on the experience of the student-athletes in the research study, 18 percent (n=9) disagreed that there were many people in the department who wished to see them succeed. Fourteen percent (n=7) neither agreed or disagreed, 54 percent (n=27) agreed, and 14 percent (n=7) strongly agreed. Feelings of acceptance in the athletics department are high, as 20 percent (n=10) strongly agreed with the statement. An additional 60 percent (n=30) agreed that people in the athletics department are generally accepting of them, while 18 percent (n=9) had no opinion, and 2 percent (n=1) disagreed.

When asked about their post-athletics personal development, 68 percent (n=29) of student-athletes either agreed or strongly agreed that the athletics administration appeared genuinely happy for them. Eighteen percent (n=9) strongly agreed that they felt supported by the athletics department, while 46 percent (n=23) agreed. Thirty six percent of student-athletes did not agree or disagree (n=8), disagreed (n=7), or strongly disagreed (n=3) with the same statement. Similarly, 16 percent (n=8) strongly agree and 44 percent (n=22) agree that if they had a personal problem the athletics department would be willing to help. Just 4 percent (n=2) strongly disagreed that the athletics department would help, 14 percent (n=7) disagreed, and 22 percent (n=11) neither agreed or disagreed. Two percent (n=1) of participants strongly disagreed that administrators in the athletics department generally showed their concern for student-athletes' well-being, compared to 16 percent (n=8) who disagreed, 24 percent (n=12) who neither agreed or disagreed, 40 percent (n=20) who agreed, and 18 percent (n=9) who strongly agreed. Finally, when asked if there are enough social or academic opportunities offered through athletics for them to get connected with others at the college, the majority of student-athletes

agreed (40 percent, n=20) or had no opinion (28 percent, n=14). Four percent (n=2) strongly disagreed, 16 percent (n=8) disagreed, and 10 percent (n=5) strongly agreed.

Sense of fit within the college

Student-athletes were asked five questions pertaining to their opinions on their sense of fit within the college as a whole.

Table 5
Sense of fit within the college

Q6: It is co administrat	_	at my contributio	ns are valued by my coa	ches and	
	Strongly	Disagree	Neither Agree or	Agree	Strongly
_	Disagree		Disagree		Agree
	0%	0%	20%	48%	32%
Q14: Peopl	e in the athletic depa	artment are gener	ally accepting of me.		
	Strongly	Disagree	Neither Agree or	Agree	Strongly
_	Disagree		Disagree		Agree
_	0%	2%	18%	60%	20%
Q20: Some athletics.	times I get so busy v	with off-campus a	activities that I distance i	myself from	
aumencs.					
americs.	Strongly	Disagree	Neither Agree or	Agree	Strongly
atmetics.	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Neither Agree or Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
aunetics.		Disagree 26%	· ·	Agree 32%	
-	Disagree 8%	26%	Disagree		Agree
-	Disagree 8%	26%	Disagree 22%		Agree
-	Disagree 8% pinions are generally	26% v valued within th	Disagree 22% ne athletic department.	32%	Agree 12%

When asked if there were people at the college that sincerely appreciated their involvement as a student-athlete 6 percent (n=3) strongly disagreed, 10 percent (n=5) disagreed, 20 percent (n=10) had no opinion, 40 percent (n=20) agreed, and 24 percent (n=12) strongly agreed. Eighty percent of student-athletes either strongly agreed (32 percent, n=16) or agreed (48 percent, n=24) that it was comforting that their contributions were valued by coaches and administrators. The remaining 20 percent (n=10) of student-athletes did not agree or disagree.

Student-athletes were asked if they had ever become so busy with off-campus activities that they distanced themselves from others in athletics. Eight percent (n=4) strongly disagreed with that behavior, 36 percent (n=18) disagreed, 22 percent (n=11) neither agreed or disagreed, another 22 percent (n=11) agreed, and a final 12 percent (n=6) strongly agreed. Student-athletes did not feel isolated while involved in student activities outside of athletics, as 12 percent (n=6) strongly disagreed and 48 percent (n=24) disagreed when asked. Twenty-six percent (n=13) had no opinion, 10 percent (n=5) agreed that they felt isolated, and 4 percent (n=2) strongly agreed.

Outside of the athletics department, 12 percent (n=6) of student-athletes' strongly agreed that their opinions were generally valued, 36 percent (n=18) agreed, 40 percent (n=20) did not have an opinion, 10 percent (n=5) disagreed, and 2 percent (n=1) strongly disagreed.

Perceived marginality owing to personal characteristics

Student-athletes were asked nine questions pertaining to their perceived marginality due to personal characteristics.

Table 6
Perceived marginality owing to personal characteristics

Q10: Most of athletics.	f my coaches would n	ot miss me if I su	ddenly stopped particip	pating in			
	Strongly	Strongly Disagree Neither Agree or Agree					
	Disagree		Agree				
	10%	30%	18%	18%	4%		
Q11: I believ college.	Q11: I believe that the athletic administration would miss me if I suddenly stopped attending college.						
	Strongly	Disagree	Neither Agree or	Agree	Strongly		
	Disagree			Agree			
	8%	28%	30%	20%	14%		
Q16: If I stop	oped participating in a		30% have no access to perso		14%		
	oped participating in a		• • • •		14% Strongly		
	oped participating in a	athletics, I would	have no access to perso	nal/career			
	oped participating in a g. Strongly	athletics, I would	have no access to perso Neither Agree or	nal/career	Strongly		
programming	Strongly Disagree 22%	Disagree 46%	have no access to perso Neither Agree or Disagree	nal/career Agree	Strongly Agree		

	Disagree Disagree			Agree	
	2%	2%	18%	48%	30%
Q24: I often	feel isolated when inv	volved in student a	activities (e.g., clubs, e	vents).	
	Strongly	Disagree	Neither Agree or	Agree	Strongly
	Disagree		Disagree		Agree
	12%	48% 26%		10%	4%
Q26: There a others at the		opportunities off	ered through athletics	to connect me	with
	Strongly	Disagree	Neither Agree or	Agree	Strongly
	Disagree		Disagree		Agree
	4%	16%	28%	40%	10%
Q31: I chose	John Jay College bed	ause of the acade	mic programming (ma	jors).	
	Strongly	Disagree	Neither Agree or	Agree	Strongly
	Disagree		Disagree		Agree
	4%	8%	8%	40%	40%
Q32: I chose	John Jay College bed	ause of the oppor	tunity to be a student-a	ithlete.	
	Strongly	Disagree	Neither Agree or	Agree	Strongly
	Disagree		Disagree		Agree
	14%	22%	16%	28%	20%
-	e personal/career pro	gramming from a	thletics that I could not	t get from oth	er
departments	on campus.				
departments	•	Disagree	Neither Agree or	Agree	Strongly
departments	on campus.	Disagree	Neither Agree or Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
departments	on campus. Strongly	Disagree 24%	G	Agree	
	on campus. Strongly Disagree 18%	24%	Disagree	20%	Agree
	on campus. Strongly Disagree 18%	24%	Disagree 24%	20%	Agree
	on campus. Strongly Disagree 18% Ild no longer participa	24% te in athletics I w	Disagree 24% ould remain at John Ja	20% y College.	Agree 14%

First, the student-athletes were asked if they agreed that most of their coaches would not miss them if they suddenly stopped participating in athletics. Thirty percent (n=15) strongly disagreed with the statement, 30 percent (n=15) disagreed, 18 percent (n=9) had no opinion, 18 percent (n=9) agreed, and 4 percent (n=2) strongly agreed. When "coaches" was replaced with "teammates", the student-athletes were more in agreement. Forty-eight percent (n=24) agreed that their teammates would miss them if they stopped participating in athletics, 30 percent (n=15) strongly agreed, 18 percent (n=2) had no opinion, and 2 percent (n=1) each disagreed and

strongly disagreed. When the same question was asked from a broader perspective, whether the athletics administration would miss them if they suddenly stopped attending college, 8 percent (n=4) of the student-athletes strongly disagreed, 28 percent (n=14) disagreed, 30 percent (n=15) neither agreed or disagreed, 20 percent (n=10) agreed, and 14 percent (n=7) strongly agreed.

The student-athletes were asked if they would have access to personal and career development programming if they stopped participating in athletics, in order to assess how much departmental programming is valued. Ninety percent of student-athletes either had no opinion on the statement (22 percent, n=11), disagreed (46 percent, n=23), or strongly disagreed (22 percent, n=11). The other 10 percent of student-athletes agreed (8 percent, n=4) or strongly agreed (2 percent, n=1). When asked if the personal and career programming they received from the athletics department was unique from what they could access elsewhere on campus, only 34 percent strongly agreed (14 percent, n=7) or agreed (20 percent, n=10). Twenty-four percent (n=12) had no opinion, another 24 percent (n=12) disagreed and 18 percent (n=9) strongly disagreed.

The remaining three questions in this section assessed the priorities of the student-athletes. Forty percent (n=20) each strongly agreed and agreed that they had chosen the institution in the study because of the academic programming, including majors. Eight percent (n=4) had no opinion and 8 percent (n=4) and 4 percent (n=2) did not agree that they chose the institution based on academic programming. When athletics was switched with academic programming, the strongly agree (20 percent, n=10) and agree (28 percent, n=14) responses were slightly lower, with 16 percent (n=8) without an opinion, and 22 percent (n=11) and 14 percent (n=7) disagreeing or strongly disagreeing. Finally, student-athletes were asked if they would remain at the institution if they could no longer participate in athletics. Sixty-eight percent of

student-athletes agreed (46 percent, n=23) or strongly agreed (22 percent, n=11) that they would remain. Only 10 percent (n=5) did not have an opinion or were part of the 12 percent (n=6) that disagreed.

Attendance at various events

The survey also assessed the student-athletes' attendance at various campus events. The most well attended campus events were on-campus athletics competitions, with 80 percent (n=40) indicating that they had been to a game in a sport other than the one that they played. Similarly, 66 percent (n=33) had attended off-campus athletics competition in a sport other than the one they played, compared to 34 percent (n=17) who had not. The student-athletes who disclosed why they had not attended events off-campus indicated that it was because of other priorities. The third most attended campus event was the college-wide career fair, with 58 percent (n=29) of student-athletes having attended at some point. Of the 42 percent (n=21) who had not attended the career fair, 4 percent (n=2) said it was because they already had career plans and/or internships. Another 4 percent (n=2) admitted to not knowing about the event and not going out of their way to find information about it. The remaining 17 student-athletes did not indicate why they had not attended.

The three least attended campus events were all non-competition athletics department programming: student-athlete advisory committee (SAAC) meetings, the SAAC potluck, and athletics resume workshops. Of the three, the potluck had the highest attendance rate at 52 percent (n=26), followed by SAAC meetings at 50 percent (n=25), and the resume workshops had only been attended by 12 percent (n=6) of student-athletes surveyed. When asked why they had not attended the SAAC potluck, 6 percent (n=3) indicated that they had other plans, 8 percent (n=4) indicated that they did not know about it/had never heard of it, and the remaining

34 percent (n=17) did not respond. SAAC meeting non-attendance solicited similar responses, with 14 percent (n=7) of student-athletes claiming they were too busy or had other priorities/responsibilities. Four percent (n=2) student-athletes attributed their non-attendance to athletics (practice or competition) conflicts, and the remaining 6 percent (n=3) who responded indicated that they had no interest. When asked about non-attendance at athletics resume workshops, 8 percent (n=4) responded that the workshop was not necessary for their career development and/or that they had received similar services elsewhere on campus. Thirty percent (n=15) of the student-athletes indicated that they did not know the workshops existed. The final 6 percent (n=3) who reported why they had not attended athletics resume workshops due to time conflicts. An important note: the researcher had conducted athletics resume workshops during her time at the institution and at the time of the research study it was unclear if those workshops still existed.

Ranking of priorities

In the final section of the survey the student-athletes were asked to rank the following priorities from most important to least important: ability to major in a chosen subject, ability to participate in athletics, cost of attendance, family obligations, other considerations, and proximity to home.

Ability to major in a chosen subject was overwhelmingly the highest ranked priority, with 60 percent (n=30) ranking it as most important, 14 percent (n=7) ranking it second most important, and another 14 percent (n=7) ranking it third most important. Only 6 percent (n=3) ranked their major as the fourth most important priority, 2 percent (n=1) ranked it fifth most important, and 4 percent (n=2) ranked their major as the least important priority. Ability to participate in athletics was ranked as most important by 8 percent (n=4) of student-athletes,

ranked second and third most important each by 26 percent (n=13), fourth most important by 14 percent (n=7), fifth most important by 12 percent (n=6), and least important by 14 percent (n=7). Cost of attendance was ranked second most important overall, with 38 percent (n=19).

Family obligations were ranked most important by 10 percent (n=5) of student-athletes, second most important by 6 percent (n=3), third most important by 18 percent (n=9), fourth most important by 32 percent (n=16), fifth most important by 20 percent (n=10), and least important by 14 percent (n=7). Other priorities were ranked most important by 6 percent (n=3) of student-athletes, second most important by 8 percent (n=34, third most important by 4 percent (n=2), fourth most important by 16 percent (n=8), fifth most important by 16 percent (n=8), and least important by 56 percent (n=28). The final priority, proximity to home, was ranked most important by 4 percent (n=2) of student-athletes, second most important by 8 percent (n=4), third most important by 12 percent (n=6), fourth most important by 16 percent (n=8), fifth most important by 46 percent (n=23), and least important by 14 percent (n=7).

When considered overall, the priorities were ranked in the following order: ability to major in chosen subject, cost of attendance, ability to participate in athletics, family obligations, proximity to home, and other.

Table 7
Ranking of Commuter Student-Athlete Priorities

	Q51: Please	rank the follow	ing priorities	from Most Im	portant to Lea	ast Important
	Most	2nd most	3rd most	4th most	5th most	Least
	important	important	important	important	important	important
Ability to major in chosen subject Ability to participate in	60%	14%	14%	6%	2%	4%
athletics	8%	26%	26%	14%	12%	14%
Cost of attendance	12%	38%	28%	10%	6%	6%
Family obligations	10%	6%	18%	32%	20%	14%
Other	6%	8%	4%	10%	16%	56%
Proximity to home	4%	8%	12%	16%	46%	14%

Interview Data

Following the completion of the online survey, seven student-athletes volunteered to participate in an additional Skype interview to further the conversation about their academic, athletic, and other motivations surrounding engagement with student-athlete development programming. Of those seven initial participants only two ultimately completed the qualitative portion of the study. At the suggestion of the research advisors, the researcher separately reached out to student-athletes to secure more interviews. By using the direct message function on Instagram, the researcher contacted an additional seven student-athletes. The student-athletes were asked a total of ten open-ended questions to assess their feelings on existing student-athlete development programming at the institution, as well as to discover their academic, athletic, and other motivations that affect their engagement with such programming.

Demographics

In total, nine student-athletes participated in an interview. Five out of nine were female and four were male. Six of the fifteen teams were represented, with three student-athletes from women's soccer, three from men's volleyball, and one each from baseball and women's swimming. The final interview participant was a dual-sport student-athlete, representing women's volleyball and cheerleading. When considering the facility limitations of the institution, five student-athletes out of the nine practices and competed on-campus, while the remaining four had to use off-campus facilities for athletic participation. Ethnically, two student-athletes identified as Black or African American, three student-athletes were Hispanic, and four student-athletes identified as White.

Table 8
Student-Athlete Participant Profile

Gender	_	Ethnicity	
Female	56%	Black	22%
Male	44%	Hispanic	33%
		White	44%
Teams	<u> </u>		
Baseball	11%	Year in school	
Cheerleading	6%	Graduate student	11%
Women's Soccer	33%	Junior	33%
Women's Swimming	11%	Senior	44%
Men's Volleyball	33%	Sophomore	11%
Women's Volleyball	6%		

Academic motivations

The interview questions that aimed to assess academic motivations focused on the participants' perception of their experiences compared to other NCAA Division III institutions and their connectedness with the institution as a whole.

When asked how their college experience was similar to student-athletes at other Division III institutions, four out of the nine student-athletes only spoke of athletics. Of those answers, three cited deficiencies, including lack of facilities, gear, and transportation, between their experiences and those of student-athletes at other institutions. The fourth student-athlete spoke of a shared discipline, dedication, and love of their sport. Two student-athletes cited athletic and academic similarities, including a lack of recognition on the campus and needing to work while going to school.

The participants were also asked to describe the perceived differences between their experience and those of other student-athletes. Resources was a common theme across all answers. One student-athlete noted that they are commuters because of a lack of a residential facility which was "harder because of commuting, but in another sense more of a real-world type

of lifestyle because we're in the city" (Student-athlete #3). Another student-athlete noted that "some other institutions are able to provide student-athletes with more space on campus, choice in equipment, and presence all over campus" (Student-athlete #7). No student-athletes mentioned any academic differences between their experience and that of their peers.

To assess their connection with the institution, the student-athletes were asked if and how they planned to stay in contact with the institution after graduation. While one student-athlete indicated that they had no interest in staying in contact, the remaining participants planned to stay connected in some way. Seven of the nine student-athletes mentioned staying connected to the other, non-athletics groups with which they were affiliated. For some student-athletes this was their specific major or academic program (i.e. Honors) and for others it was less specific, as they noted they would be interested in speaking to high school students on the institution's behalf.

Athletics motivations

Data on the student-athletes' athletics motivations were established by asking questions on existing and ideal programming and how athletics factored into their college decision.

Seven of the nine student-athletes that were interviewed indicated that the SARGE program offered by the athletics department was the programming that most benefitted them. At the institution, the SARGE program stands for "student-athlete retention and graduation effort" and consists of regularly scheduled meetings between the student-athletes and an academic advisor. The student-athletes who did not mention SARGE in the interview answered that the department's athletic trainer as the most worthwhile program offered by the athletics department. Two student-athletes also mentioned athletics career planning events offered by the department to be helpful and one cited priority registration as a benefit of being a student-athlete.

There was more variety among the answers given when the student-athletes were asked what their ideal programming would be. One student-athlete could not think of any additional programming that they would like the athletics department to offer, while another suggested that a program to offset transportation costs would be worthwhile. Athletic training staffing and facility upgrades was also suggested, with the student-athlete adding that "sometimes the availability of the student does not match up with the trainer, leading to the prolonging of possible treatment" (Student-athlete #6). Specific career training was suggested by two of the nine student-athletes, including by Student-athlete #4 who indicated that "although we can already get help, actual workshops would be beneficial." A final answer to the question of ideal programming focused on academics. Two student-athletes mentioned a more finely tuned academic support program, including tutors for student-athletes. One student-athlete mentioned a desire for a better relationship between the athletics department and other student programs on campus, citing difficulties that a teammate had experienced with professors in the past.

Only two of the student-athletes interviewed agreed that the ability to participate in athletics contributed to their decision to attend the institution. An additional two out of the nine student-athletes indicated that they had looked into the athletics program while they were in high school and saw the ability to continue playing as a benefit, but that it was not a deciding factor in their choice. According to Student-athlete #7 "athletics led me to feel less afraid to start this new college journey."

The student-athletes were asked to assess whether or not the athletics department produced effective programming for commuter student-athletes. No student-athletes indicated that the institution was currently producing effective programming. Three student-athletes had a mixed reaction, citing staff deficiencies as the reason the existing programming was not effective

for all student-athletes across all teams. Student-athlete #6 answered "though our advisor was great, it comes down to not being staffed well enough to support the students. When there is only one advisor it can become overwhelming for that individual to keep track of all the student athletes and develop a helpful relationship with them." The remaining six of the nine student-athletes indicated that the existing programming offered by athletics was not effective for commuters. "They say it's not an excuse for being late, not being able to attend or other things, but they don't think about our unique commuter status" said Student-athlete #4.

Other considerations affecting engagement

The final grouping of interview questions assessed feelings surrounding the other motivations that affect the student-athletes' engagement with programming.

Four of the nine student-athletes responded that their commuter status resulted in them spending more time on campus than they would if they lived within a reasonable distance.

According to Student-athlete #5

Sometimes that even means staying on campus after practice to finish homework in the library because I knew I won't do anything once I get home. It forces me to be organized and manage my time well. The 8am days are the worst sometimes, but they aren't totally terrible because I like being on campus and around my friends.

The five student-athletes who indicated that being a commuter resulted in less time spent on campus indicated that it was because of a choice between spending time on campus and other priorities. Student-athlete #4 said that "if it is between staying for a 7 p.m. basketball game or getting home before 10 p.m. I am going home." A similar sentiment was expressed by Student-athlete #7, who said that safety factored into their decision not to spend more time on campus — "I do not live in the safest of neighborhoods so that also factors into the time I feel I should be

back home. With these things in mind I sometimes miss out on opportunities and events that happen later on in the day."

A majority of student-athletes (seven out of nine) suggested that some sort of attendance should be required at athletics department programming. Of those who answered affirmatively, three student-athletes suggested that given the different schedules of commuter students, the attendance requirement should be akin to "maybe being required to attend one or two a semester" (Student-athlete #4) or "required to do during the semester as juniors and seniors" (Student-athlete #6). The two student-athletes who did not believe attendance should be required at department programming indicated that such a policy would be ineffective because it would make student-athletes resent the department. "People who want to go will go and people who don't want to will get nothing out of it" (Student-athlete #3). Student-athlete #9 saw things similarly, noting

I see it as a teenager and parent dispute, the teenager (athletes) do not want to do something even though it's for their benefit and therefore argue with their parents (athletics department), several years down the line that teenager will thank their parents because they were not rational. But maybe mandatory attendance will provide positive outcomes for student-athletes down the road.

When asked if they planned to stay connected to the athletics department following their time at the institution, all nine student-athletes answered yes. Only two student-athletes also mentioned the athletics department as a whole, supporting initiatives like Homecoming or fundraising. Seven student-athletes, a majority, indicated that they were planning to only stay in contact with their teams and/or coaching staffs.

Summary of the Findings

Following the analysis of the survey responses and interview data, several themes emerged. The first was a lack of knowledge about, and indifference for, student-athlete development programming. The idea that athletics is not the biggest motivator for the student-athletes also emerged. A final theme that emerged from the data analysis was that, above all, student-athletes want a personal connection to the development they receive from the athletics department. A table summarizing the findings of the research can be found below.

Table 9
Emerging Themes from Survey and Interview Data

Survey				
Focus of questions	Outcomes	Emerging theme		
Being the object of attention of others Support in various endeavors by	General athletics questions rated	Student-athletes desire personal		
others	"neither agree or disagree"	connections		
Supportive athletic department	Questions about coaches/peers	Athletics is not top motivator		
Sense of fit within the college	rated "strongly agree" or "agree"			
Perceived marginality	They can get programming			
	elsewhere on campus			
	Do not assign value to non-game			
	athletics programming			
Interview				
Focus of questions	Outcomes	Emerging theme		
Academic motivations	Rather go home than spend extra	Athletics is not top motivator		
Athletic motivations	time on campus	Indifference to topic		
Other motivations	Asked for definition of programs	Student-athletes desire personal		
	Athletes are not recognized by the connections			
	college as a whole			
	Athletes have other stuff to worry			
	about - classes, food, jobs			
	Programming only works when			
	someone genuine is running it			
Other				
Response rate	Low, despite multiple contacts	Indifference to topic		
	Lack of follow-through during	Athletics is not top motivator		
	interview process			

No connection of how research could benefit future programs

Lack of knowledge and indifference about student-athlete development programming

A lack of knowledge and an indifference about student-athlete development programming became apparent very early in the data analysis. Generally, these themes revealed themselves in the low response rates to both the surveys and the interviews. The survey, which was distributed to 215 student-athletes on three different occasions, only resulted in a final participant cohort of 50 (n=50). Further, only three of the initial seven qualitative interview volunteers followed through to participation; the remaining interview participants were secured separately by the researcher. Those interview participants had not also taken part in the survey portion of the research.

Prior to conducting the research study, the researcher expressed concerns about a low response rate. Her campus experience at the institution studied led her to believe that despite the student-athletes knowing that the research was going to take place, there would be a lack of follow through. This concern was amplified when the researcher left the institution for new employment because she knew she would no longer have access to the student-athlete cohort and would not be the individual distributing the survey. Without her being there to connect the student-athletes with the significance of the study, the researcher knew that the participant cohort would not be as large as if she had still be employed by the institution.

Specifically, indifference to student-athlete development programming was illustrated most strongly with quantitative survey questions #16 and #20. The student-athletes did not assign value to athletics department programming, as only 10 percent (n=5) either agreed or strongly agreed that the department offered programming that they could not find elsewhere on

campus. That is compared to 68 percent (n=34) of student-athletes who either disagreed or strongly disagreed with the same sentiment. Similarly, 44 percent (n=22) of student-athletes either agreed or strongly agreed that they sometimes distance themselves from athletics because of their off-campus responsibilities.

According to one of the student-athletes interviewed, "personally, I'd rather not spend time on campus unless I have some responsibility" (Student-athlete #1). This further shows that student-athletes are not connecting athletics department programming with their other responsibilities, nor are they assigning it much value. Six of the nine student-athletes who participated in the qualitative interviews needed the researcher to define student-athlete development programming at some point during the interview. The remaining two student-athletes associated the concept with just one program; either athletic training or the SARGE academic support program.

Athletics as a motivation tool

Another outcome that emerged from the quantitative and qualitative data surrounded the extent to which athletics is a motivator. The research study suggested that athletics is not the top priority for commuter student-athletes.

When the survey assessed the student-athletes' attendance at various campus events, non-game athletics programming was the least attended. This suggests that the student-athletes connect with obvious athletics department programming, such as attending home or away contests, but they do not assign value to events like student-athlete advisory committee meetings, potlucks, or resume workshops. Those events were less attended than similar programming offered by the college, generally. Similar sentiment was expressed when the student-athletes

were asked to rank their priorities. Participating in athletics was third most popular, behind both ability to major in a chosen subject and cost to attend the institution.

Throughout the interview process, the student-athletes suggested alternate motivations that may be more effective than athletics. For example, Student-athlete #5 indicated that he feels "like athletics is not as well supported at [here] as it is at other DIII institutions. Student-athletes aren't recognized as much and the school's general populous just doesn't know about competitions and the status of our teams." In other words, the athletics department and the student-athletes were not perceived to be part of the campus and integration in that community would motivate student-athletes to engage with programming. This sentiment was echoed further by Student-athlete #1, who expressed:

We'll look at other clubs like the Dominican club. It's huge. It's one of the biggest clubs. But somehow they're able to sustain such a huge community. But then athletics is such an alienated thing that people still think is like, "Oh, only athletes are allowed to go to these things," when it's like, "No, everybody should come. You're all Bloodhounds." So it's just, I guess, trying to foster a good feeling around athletics. Not just, "Oh, they're athletes. They look down at us because we're just students." But it's not like that. We're representing just as you're representing with your knowledge. And we're all doing the same thing. We're just sweating a little more.

Academics emerged as a strong motivator for student-athletes and data suggested that by focusing on academic issues, the athletics department would be able to prove to student-athletes that its efforts are genuine. Student-athletes ranked their major as the highest priority in the quantitative survey and this was confirmed throughout the interview process, including with Student-athlete #9 to expressed that he "didn't really think too much about the possibility of

participating in athletics when choosing [the institution] to be honest. I knew I wanted to play volleyball in college but I was really looking for a school that offered the major and courses that I wanted to study."

Student-athletes also expressed a desire for the athletics department to support their academic motivations. This is not limited to the pre-existing academic support meetings, according to Student-athlete #5 who said that there needs to be better communication and a better relationship between the athletics department and the various programs that student-athletes are a part of on campus. Further suggesting that student-athletes are not effectively integrated in the campus community, Student-athlete #2 wished for a closer relationship between athletics and student-athletes' professors, where possible.

Desire for a personal connection

Above all, the data from this research study suggested that a personal connection may be the key to engaging commuter student-athletes with departmental student-athlete development programming. As Student-athlete #3 succinctly put it: "I do think [its] important but its effectiveness greatly relies on the person it is with. If it's not someone you feel comfortable with or who you feel is genuinely interested, then it won't work."

The quantitative data also suggested this. The four survey questions that broadly asked about support from, and being the object of attention of, the athletics department solicited the highest percentages "neither agree or disagree" as responses. Conversely, the three survey questions with similar circumstance but that specifically named coaches or peer student-athletes elicited fewer non-committal responses. In these questions the student-athletes were clearly able to select whether they agreed or disagreed with the statements. This suggests that when the student-athletes had to think about their personal relationships with coaches or teammates, they

were better able to arrive at an opinion. This proved to be more difficult when they were asked to qualify the same questions about the athletics department, generally.

While remaining cognizant of the importance of personal connections when engaging commuter student-athletes in development programming, the research participants were mixed in their opinions on whether engagement should be required. All nine student-athletes who participated in the qualitative interviews indicated that there was room for improvement in the delivery of student-athlete development programming, and seven indicated that participation in programming should be required. This idea is counterintuitive to what the quantitative data revealed, as attendance at athletics non-competition events (SAAC meetings and resume preparation sessions) was the lowest of all the events surveys.

Table 10
Student-Athlete Attendance at Campus
Events

Q37: Have you attended the following events during your experience?							
	SAAC	SAAC	Athletics	College	Game on	Game off	
	meeting	potluck	resume	career fair	campus	campus	
No	50%	48%	88%	42%	20%	34%	
Yes	50%	52%	12%	58%	80%	66%	

Those student-athletes who were in favor of required attendance at student-athlete development programming noted that the alternative would result in no attendance and that "otherwise it'll be a waste of time, space, money, and so forth" (Student-athlete #9). Other student-athletes disagreed and commended the existing manner in which programming was being delivered. According to Student-athlete #7, "our advisors are really good with planning out times that fit with our schedules for meetings which is very helpful instead of us having to plan our schedule around them."

Conclusion

Results from the study indicate that participation in intercollegiate athletics is not the top motivator for urban, commuter student-athletes. Ability to participate in athletics ranks third, behind ability to major in a chosen subject and cost of attendance. Student-athletes did not view athletics programming as a resource that could not be found in other departments on campus. Additional findings suggested that commuter student-athletes respond more strongly when programming is associated with teammates or coaching staff, rather than the athletics department generally. The results of this study recommend that future programming address commuter student-athlete academic challenges, lessen the personal burdens that student-athletes face, and be conducted by a dedicated administrator in a way that respects the unique schedules of the student-athletes.

CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

This research project is the first of its kind for the institution. Student-athlete responses to the online survey indicated that athletics department sponsored student-athlete development programming is not a priority during their college experience. This sentiment was confirmed during interviews, where it was noted that the ability to participate in intercollegiate athletics was an added benefit of attending the institution, but not a motivating factor. Student-athletes also had a lack of knowledge of what constitutes student-athlete development programming and did not express a strong desire to discuss it, as evidenced by the low response rates to the research participation solicitations. Finally, both the quantitative and qualitative data revealed that the student-athletes are impacted more by programming or support when it comes from someone with whom they have a personal connection. This can include coaches, teammates, or athletics administrators.

Because the student-athletes at the institution do not assign value to the development programming that is offered, the result is indifference to the efforts by the athletics department. In order to combat this idea, the recommendations forming from this research center around student-athlete support. By continuing to offer development programming without building a strong base of connection with the cohort, there will be no increases in student-athlete attendance or engagement. As such, the findings from this study led to recommendations that an environment of student-athlete support be built, beginning with the areas of academics, empathy, and staffing.

Review of Research Questions and Summary of Responses

The intent of this two-phase, mixed methods study was to evaluate the priorities of urban, commuting student-athletes at a NCAA Division III institution in New York City. In the first

phase, quantitative research questions addressed the perceptions that student-athletes have about the support and development programming they currently receive from the athletic department at the institution. Information from this first phase was explored further in a second qualitative phase. In the second phase, qualitative interviews were used to probe more specific aspects of the student-athlete experience at the institution. The reason for following up with qualitative research in the second phase was to better understand what student-athletes at their institutions expect and value when it comes to student-athlete development and engagement.

The following research questions were addressed in this study:

RQ1: How do urban commuter student-athletes characterize intercollegiate athletics as part of their campus experience?

RQ2: How does personal and career programming offered by the athletics department influence urban commuter student-athlete behavior and choices?

Research Question 1

The urban commuter student-athletes in this study did not characterize intercollegiate athletics as the most important part of their campus experience. In fact, when asked to rank participating in athletics among other possible priorities athletics ranked third overall, behind ability to major in a chosen subject and cost of attendance. Only 8 percent of student-athletes ranked athletics as their highest priority. The student-athletes who were interviewed as part of the research study expressed that athletics was not a deciding factor in their college choice; instead it was a bonus that they could continue to participate, while also satisfying their other interests and priorities.

Because athletics is not the highest priority for urban, commuter student-athletes athletics professionals must cater to the two areas that ranked higher: academics and cost. Traditionally

John Jay student-athletes perform at a high academic level; in fact, following the spring 2018 semester 56% of student-athletes had a GPA of 3.2 or higher. Given the fact that academic achievement is not an issue, in order to engage the cohort the athletics administrators must be more proactive in their outreach throughout the campus structure. This will show that the department values the student-athletes' top priority.

The athletics department cannot have any influence over the cost of attendance for its student-athletes. In order to address the second highest priority in the urban, commuter student-athlete college experience, the athletics department can use the institution's existing resources. By promoting specific programming in the offices of financial aid and wellness, student-athletes will be more informed about the options for emergency funding, transportation stipends, and food that are open to all students.

Research Question 2

At the time that the research study was conducted, the personal and career student-athlete development programming offered by the athletics department was not strongly influencing urban commuter student-athlete behaviors. The "one size fits all" approach to personal and career student-athlete development programming had been proven ineffective, evidenced by low attendance rates at non-competition events. The student-athletes indicated that if the choice was between attending department programming or going home, they would choose the latter. Even for the student-athletes who said that their commute resulted in more time spent on campus, that time was not spent at programming offered by the athletics department. Independent from the type of programming that was offered, student-athletes indicated that their connection with who was delivering or encouraging the programming had the biggest influences on their engagement with it.

Connectedness with campus can be a systematic problem for commuter institutions and the student-athletes who attend them. This could help to explain some of the response rate challenges during this study. Further, the student-athletes that agreed to participate in the surveys and be interviewed for this study may have had more concerns about the existing student-athlete development programming offered by John Jay College. From frustration can come innovation, which was the case with this research, as the solutions offered during the interview process offered tangible ways for John Jay Athletics to influence urban, commuter student-athlete behavior moving forward.

Interpretation and Alignment of Findings with Literature

As noted in Chapter 2, there has been very little previous research on commuter students and student-athletes as a single population. The existing research on commuting students typically focuses on how their external and non-academic commitments affect their academic performance. Similarly, the literature involving student-athletes focuses on grade point averages, graduation rates, and community service. The research in this study set out to separately study the different commitments of commuter student-athletes, and address the weakness cited by Burlison (2015), of grouping things together. The results found both similarities and differences with the existing literature.

Similarities

Jacoby (2015) found that student affairs professionals must develop a thorough understanding of the needs of commuter students and create strategies to increase their persistence and engage them, especially as they continue to attend a wide variety of higher learning institutions. Navarro (2015) also noted that student-athlete development professionals must work to offer programming that is tailored for student-athletes and that serves their unique

needs. These lines of thinking align with the results of this research study, which found that commuter student-athletes desire development programming that caters to their non-athletic priorities. Further, commuter student-athletes want to work with professionals with whom they have a personal connection and who understands those priorities.

Both Mueller (2009) and Burns (2013) noted that it is important to engage students emotionally, and it is the administrator's job to build emotional significance where it is lacking. This theme also emerged as a result of this study, with student-athletes expressing a desire to make personal connections with those delivering the student-athlete development programming. This study also revealed that commuter student-athletes are lacking the emotional connection to the programming that is offered by the athletics department, so in order to be engaged moving forward the foundation of that significance must be built.

Using Astin (1999) as a guide, this research study involved both quantitative and qualitative aspects; realizing that student engagement with programming occurs along a continuum, and that a mixed methods approach would best capture the student-athletes' differing opinions and priorities. Another tenet of the theory is that the amount of student learning and personal development is directly proportional to the quality and quantity of involvement. Astin (1999) theorizes that the effectiveness of any educational practice is directly related to the capacity of that policy or practice to increase involvement. As such, student-athlete development professionals cannot just *offer* life skills programming, they must offer programming that the student-athlete deems applicable and constructive. The research showed that the most popular answer as to why student-athletes were not attending non-game athletics programming was because they had "no interest." Because of this, that aspect of Astin's (1999) seems particularly applicable.

Differences

This research study on commuter student-athletes differed from the existing literature in that it used an adapted quantitative survey instrument. The work of McQuown Linnemeyer & Brown (2010) and Rettig & Shouping (2016) used existing survey tools in order to gather their data. Others, including Czekanski (2015), Umbach (2006), and Huml, Svensson, & Hancock (2017) used surveys that they had originally created. For the purposes of this research study, the quantitative survey tool was adapted from Tovar, Simon, & Lee (2009). The instrument had previously been used to study just commuter students, and the researcher made the questions applicable to intercollegiate athletics.

Choosing to participate in intercollegiate athletics, according to Melendez (2016) gives student-athletes something that other commuter students do not experience. That is: athletic participation is an important social influence for diverse freshman populations attending nonresidential urban commuter colleges, and athletics can aid in social adjustment for students at a commuter institution (Melendez, 2016). The results of this research study, however, show that connection is not currently being made with the commuter student-athletes at John Jay College of Criminal Justice.

Implications and Recommendations for Action

As stated at the beginning of this chapter, the research reported in the literature review and the findings from data collection for this study lead to recommendations that the institution build an environment of student-athlete support. According to the results of the data collection that environment must focus on the areas of academics, empathy, and staffing.

Academics

The ability to participate in intercollegiate athletics ranked third among the student-athletes who participated in this research study; a ranking that saw "ability to major in chosen subject" as the biggest motivator. Because of this, athletics departments that are made up primarily of commuter student-athletes must cater to academic priorities. As Student-athlete #9 indicated, "athletes breed leadership and other qualities and yet I do not feel supported by the college." This sentiment was echoed by five of the other student-athletes (total: n=6, 66 percent) who were interviewed.

At the time that the researcher of this study was employed at the institution, the athletics department engaged basic behaviors to increase support of student-athletes in the academic environment on campus. These included a progress report program, which contacted professors twice a semester to solicit input on academic performance, and competition verification letters, which sought to lessen the conflict between student-athlete class and competition schedules. The athletics department also employed the use of a faculty athletics representative (FAR) to serve as an impartial party in any conflicts that arose between student-athletes and their professors or academic departments. Finally, the athletics administration had created a campus compliance team, and communicated student-athlete academic achievements to campus partners at bi-annual meetings.

Based on the results of the research data, further actions need to be taken in these areas. The student-athletes suggested beginning with an improvement to the communication between the athletics department and the various campus programs that they are a part of. The student-athletes indicated that those groups included the Accelerate Complete Engage (ACE) program, the Search for Education, Elevation and Knowledge (SEEK) program, the APPLE Corps, and the

Honors programs. The student-athletes also desired a closer relationship between the athletics department and professors, where possible.

In order to improve the communication with the academic side of the institution, the athletics department can build upon the behaviors that already exist. For example, directors from the programs listed by the student-athletes should be invited to campus compliance team meetings. Representatives from the athletics administration should attend faculty orientations to discuss the academic expectations and performance of the student-athlete cohort, and the administration should explore more effective means to distribute progress reports. Perhaps most importantly, the athletics department must periodically check-in with the student-athlete cohort to ensure that their needs are being met. As one of the interviewed student-athletes put it, "I have already enough problems in life and the (other) programs seems to make it much harder to be a student-athlete. I need the athletics department to stand up...and say you cannot treat them like that" (personal communication).

Empathy

The student-athletes studied ranked cost of attendance the second most important priority between ability to major in chosen subject and ability to participate in intercollegiate athletics. As a result, the athletics department must show empathy to the issues that student-athletes regularly deal with work to lessen the burdens that they already have. The student-athletes who were interviewed for this study expressed a general feeling of lacking resources – gear, facilities, or other perks. Specifically, when asked how his student-athlete experience differed from peer NCAA Division III institutions, Student-athlete #9 answered "How can we possibly have the same experience as other DIII schools when funding for things that students need or enjoy is being cut left and right? It truly amazes me how one of the richest cities in this world cannot give

money to a conglomerate of colleges, that is so diverse and brilliant, so it can keep up with everyone else" (personal communication).

Given the diverse geographical, ethnic, and financial composition of the NCAA Division III membership, there may not a typical student-athlete experience. Some institutions' teams may exclusively travel by charter bus, while others may fight for van usage with other campus groups. Some institutions may have endowments that fund all team expenses, while others may need to fundraise for any and all team needs. Regardless of the given resources of an institution, Division III athletics departments are governed by NCAA legislation, specifically Bylaw 16 – Awards and Benefits. For example, Bylaw 16.02.3 states that a student-athlete may not receive an extra benefit that is not generally available to the institution's students (National Collegiate Athletic Association, 2018). Similarly, Bylaw 16.8 details the expenses that student-athletes may receive in conjunction with practice and competition (National Collegiate Athletic Association, 2018).

The commuter student-athletes in this research study proposed the following solutions to their perceived lack of resources: a dedicated student-athlete space and transportation stipends, in the form of MetroCards. At the time of the research study, the intercollegiate athletic teams had access to a student-athlete locker room, but access to that area was only granted to teams who were in-season. When asked what kinds of programming they would prefer, Student-athlete #3 answered "place for us to relax - usually we are in the atrium but that gets loud and crowded. But it's all we have" (personal communication). Five of the nine student-athletes who were interviewed (56 percent) answered that they would like to see the athletics department offer MetroCards, the item needed for subway transportation in New York City. According to Student-athlete #1 "I know everyone talks about it...it's like people say like, 'Oh, I can't get to

practice because I can't afford a MetroCard.' And that sucks because it's like, I have run into that, but at least I have my mom to help me. But some people don't have that advantage" (personal communication). Student-athlete #2 also noted that MetroCards consistently put a dent in student-athletes' budgets and, especially when in-season, can become a large expense.

Although the student-athletes' suggestions would require a monetary commitment from the institution, both are permissible under NCAA Division III legislation. Student-athlete #4 suggested that if she was provided with a MetroCard "my life would be a lot easier- even if it's just five dollars a week" (personal communication). NCAA Division III Bylaw 16.8.1 states that if a student-athlete is eligible, an institution may provide them with transportation expenses incidental to practice and competition (National Collegiate Athletic Association, 2018).

Traditionally this could mean van or bus transportation, but as suggested by the student-athletes in this study: this may also mean contributions toward MetroCards. Institutions will be limited, however, to only providing such assistance while a commuter student-athlete is in their competitive playing season.

Similarly, so long as private space is provided to student groups, generally, a student-athlete only space may be provided. At the time of the researcher's employment at the institution in this study, all student-run clubs had dedicated space in campus student affairs space. As such, the athletics department should pursue options to secure dedicated facility space for student-athletes.

Staffing

Institutions with a predominantly commuter student-athlete cohort must also consider how they are using their staffs to deliver student-athlete development programming. The quantitative results of this research study suggested that student-athletes respond more strongly

to personal relationships - with their coaches or teammates - than they do to the athletics department, generally. The same idea was suggested by the student-athletes who participated in the qualitative interviews, as they noted that they find student-athlete development programming to be most effective when they have a personal connection to it, or motivation for it. Specifically, the student-athletes who mentioned the SARGE academic support program in their interview noted that it is only effective when the athletics department staff member is "genuinely interested in what I'm saying" (Student-athlete #4).

The student-athletes that were interviewed for this study suggested that if the athletics department had a staff member solely dedicated to student-athlete development and support, the result would be more effective programming. This idea was universal across each of the existing student-athlete development programs offered by the athletics department in this study, as Student-athlete #1 said she would "love to have an administrator that is for SAAC or coming with the outlook that SAAC is their main thing because it is hard...with you, you were such a huge help. But then when we lost you and we were lost in regard to talking to [the] athletics [department]" (personal communication). Student-athlete #5 added that the academic support program had the potential to be valuable, but "with the way it is being run at the moment it isn't" (personal communication). He attributed this to the athletics administrator being responsible for tasks other than student-athlete development programming. A positive aspect of the existing programming at the institution, cited by Student-athlete #7, was flexibility in scheduling. She believed that if student-athletes are given reasonable choices or session options for events in addition to the academic support meetings, that there is potential for a better relationship between student-athletes and the athletics department (personal communication).

The researcher acknowledges that recommending an athletics administrator be exclusively dedicated to student-athlete development is an ideal, albeit unlikely, prospect for many NCAA Division III institutions. Limited resources can make it difficult to enact staff specialization to such a degree, and "wearing multiple hats" is a quasi badge of honor for Division athletics administrators (Dominguez, personal communication). As such, this research study also recommends that athletics departments with commuter student-athletes take steps to personalize student-athlete development programming as much as possible with their existing staff.

Extension education, an idea that is traditionally used for rural agricultural purposes, should be a guide for athletics departments with commuter student-athletes. Williams (2017) noted that in extension education, facilitators meet learners where they are and teach topics over a limited few meetings (p. 263). The reason behind meeting the learners at their location and not simply disseminating pre-prepared materials, is that if the learners feel that they are not being held accountable, they will choose to participate in other activities (Williams, 2017). If accountability is established, learners will become more engaged and, eventually, contribute ideas to the learning process.

When considering extension education and how it can be applied to intercollegiate athletics, the student-athletes are the learners and the athletics administrators are the facilitators. The results of this research study recommend that the athletics department deliver student-athlete development programming to the student-athletes where they are. This can take place in one of two ways. First: academic support meetings can be increased in length and decreased in frequency, in order to allow for time to personally discuss academic, career, and other priorities with individual student-athletes. Second: the athletics administration can partner

with the coaching staff to secure specific times, before or after practice sessions, to deliver student-athlete development programming. Teams would access and participate in programming as a single unit in order to foster collaboration. Both of these recommendation options will hold commuter student-athletes accountable for their participation in athletics department programming, and they will also ensure that the athletics department delivers programming to all commuter student-athletes.

Recommendations for Further Study

The results of this mixed-methods study serve as a baseline for research on commuter student-athletes, as previous studies have not focused on commuter student-athlete engagement with development programming. According to Melendez (2016) four-year commuter colleges make up thirty percent of the total number of senior colleges in the country, therefore further research on commuter student-athletes is crucial.

Comparison to peer institutions in New York City

The most obvious opportunity for continued research on commuter student-athletes is by conducting a similarly structured research study at other commuter institutions in New York City. The City University of New York (CUNY) system is comprised of over twenty campuses, some of which have residential facilities. Because of their close geographic proximity, as well as their similar resource challenges, comparing the student-athlete development experience at a peer CUNY institution could further detail the themes and challenges that commuter institutions face.

Study commuter institutions in other urban environments

John Jay College of Criminal Justice is located in midtown Manhattan, in the middle of New York City. The commuter student-athletes at the institution regularly use the extensive public transportation system to travel to campus, practice, and competitions. Future research should study commuter student-athletes in other urban environments across the United States.

Chicago, for example, has a large city university system, similar to the CUNY system.

Researchers can determine the similarities and differences between the student-athletes in different geographic locations.

Study an ideal institution

As stated in the Implications and Recommendations for Action section of this research study, having an athletics administrator exclusively devoted to student-athlete development programming is not the norm among NCAA Division III institutions. Studying an institution with such an administrator would provide an opportunity to assess whether the recommendations made by this research enhance student-athlete engagement and satisfaction with programming. The insights gained by this type of study could be used to either rework or validate the findings of this research study.

Conclusion

There is a belief among student-athlete development professionals that great programming finds a way to relate, and to *serve*, the entire spectrum of a student-athlete cohort. This research study sought to provide guidance to those professionals who work with a previously unstudied cohort: commuter student-athletes at an urban institution. The research results revealed that commuter student-athletes desire programming in, and support for, their highest priority: academics. Further, commuter student-athletes look to their athletics departments for empathy and relief from the regular stressors in their lives. Finally, commuter student-athletes search for personal connections with development programming, those who encourage their engagement with it, and those who deliver it.

An important consideration for the outcomes of this research is how easily they can be incorporated into the day to day processes of an urban, commuter institution. What is the best immediate next step to build connections; one with the potential for high impact without wasted effort? Telling the stories of urban, commuter student-athletes is the place to start. Whether it be by inviting more campus partners to join bi-annual athletics compliance team meetings or by communicating more effectively with the academic side of campus, student-athletes are looking for recognition at their institutions. When the recommendations resulting from this research study become commonplace at urban, commuter institutions the student-athletes will engage; they will no longer be *the visiting team*.

References

- About Us: John Jay Athletics. Retrieved May 17, 2017 from: http://www.johnjayathletics.com/.
- About Us: NCAA Division III. Retrieved May 26, 2017 from:
 - http://www.ncaa.org/about?division=d3.
- Biddix, J. P. (2015). Strategies for assessing commuter students. *New Directions for Student Services*, 2015, (150), 97-107. doi:10.1002/ss.20131.
- Burlison, M. B. (2015). Non-academic commitments affecting commuter student involvement and engagement. *New Directions for Student Services*, 2015, (150), 27-34. doi:10.1002/ss.20124.
- Burns, G. N., Jasinski, D., Dunn, S., & Fletcher, D. (2013). Academic support services and career decision-making self-efficacy in student athletes. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 61(2), 161-167. doi:10.1002/j.2161-0045.2013.00044.x.
- Burns, J. (2010). Leadership. New York, NY: Harper Perennial.
- City University of New York Athletic Conference. (2012). *Strategic Plan 2012-2016*. Retrieved June 13, 2017 from:
 - http://sidearm.sites.s3.amazonaws.com/cunyathletics.com/documents/2012/7/16/CUNY_Athletics_Strategic_Plan_2012-2016_Final_Draft.pdf.
- Comparing College Costs. Retrieved June 15, 2017 from:
 - $\underline{http://www2.cuny.edu/financial-aid/tuition-and-college-costs/comparing-college-costs/}.$
- CUNYAC Mission. Retrieved May 17, 2017 from:
 - http://cunyathletics.com/sports/2012/6/17/mission.aspx.
- CUNY Office of Institutional Research and Assessment. (2016). 2016 Student Experience Survey. Retrieved from: http://www2.cuny.edu/wpcontent/uploads/sites/4/page-

- assets/about/administration/offices/oira/institutional/surveys/2016_SES_Highlights_Upda ted web ready.pdf.
- CUNYAC Mission. Retrieved May 17, 2017 from:
 http://cunyathletics.com/sports/2012/6/17/mission.aspx.
- Czekanski, W.A., & Brown, L. E. (2015). Institutional outcomes of student-athlete engagement in athletics department-sponsored community service. *Journal for the Study of Sports and Athletes in Education*, *9*(2), 117-129. doi:10.1179/1935739715Z.000000000039.
- Darling, R. A. (2015). Creating an institutional academic advising culture that supports commuter student success. *New Directions for Student Services*, 2015, (150), 87-96. doi:10.1002/ss.20130.
- Dominguez, G. (2017, June 13). Personal interview.
- Dugan, J. P., Garland, J. L., Jacoby, B., & Gasiorski, A. (2008). Understanding commuter student self-efficacy for leadership: A within-group analysis. *NASPA Journal*, *45*(2), 282-310. doi:10.2202/1949-6605.1951
- Fast Facts. Retrieved December 1, 2018 from http://jjay.cuny.edu/fast-facts.
- Fisher, L. A., Bejar, M. P., Larsen, L. K., Fynes, J. M., & Gearity, B. T. (2017). Caring in U.S. national collegiate athletic association division I sport: The perspectives of 18 female and male head coaches. *International Journal of Sports Science & Coaching, 12*(1), 75-91. doi: 10.1177/1747954116684388.
- Huml, M., Svensson, P., & Hancock, M. (2017). Community service in intercollegiate athletics: A student involvement. *Journal of Issues in Intercollegiate Athletics*, 10, 11-21.Jacoby, B. (2015). Enhancing commuter student success: What's theory got to do with it? *New*

- Directions for Student Services, 2015, (150), 3-12. doi:10.1002/ss.20122.
- John Jay College NCAA Graduation Rates Report. (2018). Internal data report.
- John Jay Fast Facts. Retrieved November 28, 2018 from http://jjay.cuny.edu/fast-facts.
- Junco, R. (2012). The relationship between frequency of Facebook use, participation in Facebook activities, and student engagement. *Computers & Education*, 58, 162–171.
- Kirk, C. M., & Lewis, R. K. (2015). Sense of community on an urban, commuter campus. *International Journal of Adolescence and Youth, 20*(1), 48-60. doi:10.1080/02673843.2013.763833.
- Kobus, M. B, Van Ommeren, J., & Rietveld, P. (2015). Student commute time, university presence and academic achievement. *Regional Science and Urban Economics*, 52, 129-140. doi:10.1016/j.regsciurbeco.2015.03.001.
- Leach, K. (2015). NCAA, N4A to partner on life skills professional development [Media news].

 Retrieved from http://www.ncaa.org/about/resources/media-center/news/ncaa-n4a-partner-life-skills-professional-development
- Linnemeyer, R. M., & Brown, C. (2010). Career maturity and foreclosure in student athletes, fine arts students, and general college students. Journal of Career Development, 37, 616-634.
- Marion, R. & Gonzales, L. (2014). Leadership in Education: Organizational Theory for the Practitioner (2nd ed.). Long Groce, IL: Waveland Press, Inc.
- McQuown Linnemeyer, R., & Brown, C. (2010b). Career maturity and foreclosure in student athletes, fine arts students, and general college students. *Journal of Career Development*, 37(3), 616-634. doi:10.1177/0894845309357049.
- Melendez, M. C. (2016). Adjustment to college in an urban commuter setting. Journal of College

- Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice, 18(1), 31-48. doi:10.1177/1521025115579671.
- Mueller, A. C. R. (2009). Campus commons: The forty-eight-hour rule: Emotional engagement and the student athlete. *About Campus*, 13(6), 30-32. doi:10.1002/abc.275.
- Murdock, J. L., Strear, M. M., Jenkins-Guarnieri, M. A., & Henderson, A. C. (2016). Collegiate athletes and career identity. *Sport, Education and Society*, 21(3), 396-410. doi:10.1080/13573322.2014.924920.
- National Association of Academic and Student-Athlete Development Professionals (N4A). (2017). *Constitution* (20th ed.). Raleigh, NC: N4A.
- National Association of Academic and Student-Athlete Development Professionals (N4A). (2017). *Strategic Plan 2014-2019*. Raleigh, NC: N4A
- National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA). (2018). *Leadership Academy Workshop*.

 Retrieved from http://www.ncaa.org/about/resources/leadership-development/leadership-academy-workshop
- National Collegiate Athletic Association (2017). Division III 2017-2018 Facts and Figures.

 Retrieved from

http://www.ncaa.org/sites/default/files/2018DIII FactsandFigures 20170906.pdf.

- National Collegiate Athletic Association (2018). Division III Rules Manual.
- Navarro, K., & Malvaso, S. (2015). Synthesizing research on the contemporary student-athlete experience: Implications and recommendations for NCAA student-athlete development programming. *Journal of College and Character*, 16(4), 263-269. doi:10.1080/2194587X.2015.1091358.
- Newbold, J. J. (2015), Lifestyle Challenges for Commuter Students. New Directions for Student

- Services, 2015, 79–86. doi:10.1002/ss.20129.
- Overall Division III. (2018). NCAA Division III Graduation Rates Report. Retrieved from https://ncaaorg.s3.amazonaws.com/research/gradrates/2018DIIIRES_D3AggFedGradRateR eport-All.pdf.
- Pokorny, H., Holley, D., & Kane, S. (2017). Commuting, transitions and belonging: The experiences of students living at home in their first year at university. *Higher Education*, 74(3), 543-558. doi:10.1007/s10734-016-0063-3
- Regalado, M. (2015). Serving the Commuter College Student in Urban Academic Libraries. *Urban Library Journal*, 21(1).
- Rettig, J., & Shouping, H. (2016). College sport participation and student educational experiences and selected college outcomes. *Journal of College Student Development*, 57(4), 428-446.
- Rubin, L., & Moreno-Pardo, M. (2018). Burnout among student-athlete services professionals.

 **Journal of Higher Education Athletics & Innovation, 1(3), 1-25. Retrieved from https://journals.shareok.org/index.php/jheai/article/view/952.
- Simiyu, N. W. (2010). Individual and institutional challenges facing student athletes on U.S. college campuses. *Journal of Physical Education and Sports Management*, 1(2), 16-24.
- Snyder, E., Kras, J., Bressel, E., & Reeve, E. (2011). The relationship of residence to academic performance in NCAA Division I freshman athletes. *Journal of Issues in Intercollegiate Athletics*, 2011, (4), 105-119.
- Stone, J. (2012). A hidden toxicity in the term "student-athlete": Stereotype threat for athletes in the college classroom. *Wake Forest Journal and Policy*, 2, 179-533.
- Torraco, R. (2016). Writing integrative literature. Human Resource Development Review, 15,

- 404-428. doi:10.1177/1534484316671606.
- Tovar, E., Simon, M. A., & Lee, H. B. (2009). Development and validation of the college mattering inventory with diverse urban college students. *Measurement and Evaluation in Counseling and Development*, 42(3), 154-178. doi:10.1177/0748175609344091
- Umbach, P., Palmer, M., Kuh, G., & Hannah, S. (2006). Intercollegiate athletes and effective educational practices: Winning combination or losing effort? Paper presented at the 44th Annual Association for Institutional Research Forum. Boston, MA.
- Wang, Y., Cullen, K., Yao, X., & Li, Y. (2013). Personality, freshmen proactive social behavior, and college transition: Predictors beyond academic strategies. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 23, 205-212. doi:10.1016/j.lindif.2012.09.010.
- Williams, K. (2017). Using Social Learning Theory to Engage Adults through Extension Education. *NACTA Journal*, *61*(3), 263-264.